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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
A 25 ik 22

For the year ended 31 December
BRET-H=1—HILEE

2024 2023 Change
—RONEE = sk
Revenue (RMB’ million) BERANRYEEET) 322.3 262.6 +23%
Other income (RMB’ million) HAbuge A (N ¥ H #0) 51.1 59.6 -14%
Operating profit (RMB’ million) AR (N H#E 96.6 67.6 +43%
Profit attributable to shareholders I SR A1 22 )
(RMB’ million) (NRWHE &) 106.6 62.4 +71%
Operating margin (%) 188 B K (%) 30.0 25.8 +4.2ppt
H o
Net margin (%) (Note 1) T 2L 2(%) (Kt —) 33.1 23.8 +9.3ppt
H o
Basic earnings per share (RMB) BREAREA (NRHEID) 0.054 0.034 +59%
Proposed dividend per share (HK$) HEUR A B S (D) 0.02 0.01 +100%
As at 31 December
wHt+=-H=4+—H
2024 2023 Change
RO R Bt
Cash and cash equivalents e MR a%EEY
(RMB’ million) (NR¥H &) 476.2 366.3 +30%
Equity attributable to shareholders SR IR A R 2
(RMB’ million) (NRWHE ) 758.5 668.1 +14%
Current ratio (times) (Note 2) B R () (M=) 34 3.0 +13%
Net gearing ratio (%) (Note 3) FEE LR (Hi=) Net cash Net cash N/A
B4 3 4 AN H
Notes: WEE
1. The calculation of net margin (%) is based on profit attributable to shareholders —~ IFETFIE (%)) IRIEE AR E G 7 T LA A 5 -
divided by revenue for the year.
2. The calculation of current ratio (times) is based on total current assets divided ~— — ~ B E R B 3K (177) JIIRIFIAAFE 459 H 2 0 B) & A B
by total current liabilities as at year end. B LA B B AR A o
3. The calculation of net gearing ratio (%) is based on net debt (being lease = - [FEF LR (%) IIRIFIAEEL A H 2 B 151757 (R E
liabilities less cash and cash equivalents) divided by equity attributable to A B R Bl 2 S F ) B LA E (G 1 7s 7 A o

shareholders as at year end.

4  Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

For the years ended 31 December
BETAZ=Z1T—HILEE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
SEOWNE B T B DB COERE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FE AR¥T T AR®TL AR¥TL AR¥WTC
Results S
Revenue HERA 322,297 262,644 172,093 86,554 321,400
Gross profit EA 162,601 131,385 98,402 45,368 117,665
Operating profit/(loss) wEEA (EER) 96,595 67,637 42,422 69,257 (209,433)
Profit/(loss) attributable to i 3R HE £ 2 A1
shareholders (E18) 106,597 62,435 37,136 43,166 (213,713)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share %Hﬁ%?—‘ﬁﬂ/
(RMB) (Ff8) (NR#T) 0.054 0.034 0.021 0.024 (0.127)
Proposed dividend per share 168 VR A B
(HKS$) (# ) 0.02 0.01 - - -
As at 31 December
#+=ZA=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
RN R CE R R ZEDERF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥FIE AR®T T AR®TLT AR¥TT AR¥WTT
Assets and liabilities &R R A
Non-current assets FERBEE 392,887 402,645 436,580 469,601 471,005
Current assets WEEE 538,285 413,830 341,538 214,162 242,124
Total assets 4 E 931,172 816,475 778,118 683,763 713,129
Non-current liabilities Te v By & 11,995 7,568 7,718 31,402 24,177
Current liabilities ) B 6 156,934 136,602 152,807 78,911 159,488
Total liabilities WA 168,929 144,170 160,525 110,313 183,665
Net assets FEE 762,243 672,305 617,593 573,450 529,464

BEOOE e BB OB A R A

SE-MAEEHR S
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PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
ERBEYEFN

The Group’s

interests
Existing use  Lease term A
Property address* W 3 Hb B H 1 i % E A JRE A1 RE 25
1. No. I Juhe Third Street, Tongzhou, FR B b 5t T A M Office and Medium 100%
Beijing, China T =R warehouse oA
b UNEY S 1
2. Linbing Community, Hanjiang, o B A A T R VL R Factory Medium 85%
Putian, Fujian, China PR Fsf T oA
3. Room 301, 3/F, Block 15A, Software [ & P &5 R SE 7 P4 [ Office Medium 100%
Park Phase 2, No. 68 Keyuan Main FHEOR BRI A W W — 1 A= A
Road, Xixiangtang, Nanning, 1595 A E3 FE 30198 5
Guangxi, China
4. Shops 1-118 to 121, 1-135 to 138, Hh B VAT R I T P L Shop Medium 100%
Block 00, Today Xinduhui, No. 56 fiff T8 % 5658 Today #r #i HE JE Gk
Jiefang Road, Xigong, Luoyang, 00ME1-118%121 ~ 1-135%
Henan, China 13855 7 fifi
5. Shops 1-95,2-177 to 178, 2-193 to H B VAT B T A R Shop Medium 100%
196, 3-190 to 198, No. 36 Taikang [a] i [ SR A BE B 36581-95 ~ I Gk
Road, Guancheng Huizu District East, ~ 2-177%178 ~ 2-193% 196 *
Zhengzhou, Henan, China 3-190% 198 5% P &l
6. Floor 1 to 9, Block 96, No. 1 YT R RO T S BT Office Medium 100%
Cuizhu Street, High-tech Industrial B BB W AR AT 195069 A E Gk
Development Zone, Zhengzhou, 1-9/E
Henan, China
7. No. 105 Yulan Street, High-tech o B T R A BSOS B R Office and Medium 100%
Industrial Development Zone, FE 2 DR I B A 10598 warehouse T
Zhengzhou, Henan, China b NN
8.  Shops C56 & C57, 1-2/F, Block B AL A R T AR Shop Medium 100%
S2, Zone A, Wuhan Jingkai Wanda Al B A% [ 12C2 AP B 5 & oA
Plaza, 12C2 Wuhan Economic and P AR S21E -2 C56 X
Technology Development Zone, C579% il
Wuhan, Hubei, China
9. Rooms 601-606 & 614-620, o B i R D T S A Office Medium 100%
Hexiexiaoxiang Building, No. 158 H— KB ISP FIRE I R A= Gk
Wuyi Main Road, Furong, Changsha, 601-6061%614-620%
Hunan, China
10. No. 7 Lingxiao Road, Airport Industry 1 B YL #f 5 i &% 117 VL 2 [ Office and Medium 100%
Park, Jiangning, Nanjing, Jiangsu, 72 s U2 [ e T B TR warehouse T
China I YNEY G-

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



PARTICULARS OF MAJOR INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
ERBEYEFN

The Group’s
interests
Existing use  Lease term AR
Property address* W 3 Hh B H 1 i 3% E JRE 41 HE 25
11.  No. 31 Hushitai Main Street South, FEREBEEZEBTIEAS Office and Medium 100%
Hushitai Economic and Technology RE s 1 fil PR B I8 0 4 A R warehouse WA
Development Zone, Shenyang, K315 b /NE &=
Liaoning, China
12.  Shops 79-80, Block 1, Wanda Plaza, R ] BR RER )T Shop Medium 100%
Jinfeng, Yinchuan, Ningxia Hui & IR L R U 1 A7 9-809% I Gk
Autonomous Region, China T il
13.  No. 2916 Shiji Main Road, Zhangqiu, B 1l 5 & ¥ 5 7 22 [ [ Office and Medium 100%
Jinan, Shandong, China 40 K #E291658 warehouse  HA
b UNEY S 1
14. No. 3908 Hugingping Road, TE EET N mEAGEE  Office and Medium 100%
Zhaoxiang Town, Qingpu, Shanghai, H T F53908 5% warehouse oA
China I YNEY G-
15.  22/F, Block B, Ludihui Centre, No. w1 b 9 1% BE 8 HE LB 258%%  Office Medium 100%
258 Longqi Road, Xuhui, Shanghai, ok b, B Hp LB 2248 b /e Gk
China
16. Room 11101, Block 6, No.47 o B P A P £ T AR T Office Long 100%
Lejuchang Road South, Beilin, Xian, 4 5 B T B ATHR6IE 11101 E WENE =
Shaanxi, China
17.  Unit3703-3711, 37/F, Block 2-1, No. " VU J1| 25 FiC #5117 4 VL [ Office Medium 100%
68 Dongda Street, Zhiquan Section, ORISR Bre8 oM o A E Gk
Jinjiang, Chengdou, Sichuan, China 37/3703-3711%
18. No. 7 Chuangye Road, Xingwen Street 1[5 U JI| & B #1717 B2 M [ Factory Medium 100%
Office, Bazhou, Bazhong, Sichuan, L A S R 2R TR Tk WA
China
19.  Room 601, No. 55 Jinbin Main Road, "B R M AW HIERE  Office Medium 100%
Hedong, Tianjin, China 55%8601% W= Gk

*

English address is for identification purpose only

TS Iy A PR S
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EV e

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Daphne
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) together with its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”), I am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2024.

In 2024, the global economic recovery remained subdued, hindered
by challenges such as escalating geopolitical conflicts and rising
trade protectionism. Despite external headwinds, China’s economy
continued its moderate and orderly recovery, with gross domestic
product (GDP) expanding 5.0% year-on-year, bolstered by effective
macroeconomic regulation and control. However, persistent cautious
consumer sentiment has protracted the full recovery of the retail market.
Additional stimulus measures are needed to boost consumer confidence
and stimulate domestic demand. To address these challenges, the Group
remained steadfast in refining its proven strategies by optimising its
brand licensing and distribution business and creating a more robust
supply chain. Meanwhile, the Group enhanced brand competitiveness
by revitalising its core brand “DAPHNE” and advancing the
development of its new pioneering design brand “DAPHNE.LAB”
which was launched a year ago. Through a comprehensive strategy
that encompassed original product design, strategic collaborations,
influential brand ambassadors and engaging marketing initiatives, the
Group once again delivered remarkable operational performance, with
sales growth outpacing the industry average.

Despite lacklustre consumer demand, the e-commerce market is
charging full steam ahead, fuelled by the growth of online marketplaces
and the significant spending power of young shoppers. However,
competition has escalated due to stagnant user growth and increased
rivalry among existing players. As the digital era redefines consumer
expectations for product quality and shopping experience, emerging
e-commerce platforms are increasingly overshadowing established
ones. Against the backdrop of an intensified market segmentation,
the Group effectively leveraged its industry leadership to bolster its
presence on traditional online platforms like “Tmall”, “Vip.com”,
and “JD.com”, while also establishing itself on emerging platforms
such as “Douyin” and “Pinduoduo”, catering to its target audience.
By enhancing communication with these platforms, the Group tapped
into their resources to consolidate a stronger brand presence, resulting
in higher-than-expected growth and top rankings. Additionally, the
Group continued to make inroads in innovative sales channels with
social media features like “Douyin”, “RedNote” and “DEWU.com” to
generate positive brand exposure among younger demographics. These
initiatives, combined with enhanced digital marketing efforts, allowed
the Group to forge deeper connections with its target customers. The
Group’s unwavering commitment to its online business strategy yielded
consistent growth, laying a solid foundation for continued success.

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EV e

Recognising the shifting macroeconomic landscape and retail dynamics,
the Group has taken a measured approach and strategically adjusted
its online and offline networks to optimise store performance and
efficiency. This measured approach has led to steady growth across
both networks and enhanced operational efficiency as market conditions
improve. While focusing on the burgeoning e-commerce sector, the
Group plans to expand into vibrant retail spaces favoured by young
consumers. By leveraging its competitive advantages and collaborating
with its franchisees, the Group aims to strengthen brand integrity
and establish a unified market presence. Additionally, the Group will
continue to integrate online and offline strategies, thereby delivering
a seamless omnichannel experience and reinforcing its industry
leadership.

In tune with evolving consumer preferences, the Group has embarked
on a rejuvenation journey to breathe new life into its “DAPHNE” brand.
This strategic move has sparked an impressive rise in annual sales,
exceeding the Group’s expectations. With fresh and inviting offline
store designs, a new brand ambassador who embodies the ethos of “Just
Be Yourselt”, and the debut of the original “CloudSoft” collection,
“DAPHNE” gracefully showcased its core values, resonating deeply
with contemporary women and inspiring them to confidently embrace
their authentic selves. Moreover, the brand’s foray into children’s shoes
and handbags has achieved encouraging initial results, unlocking new
opportunities for future growth.

Riding on the strong momentum of its originality-centric collections,
the Group has furthered the development of the avant-garde brand
“DAPHNE.LAB”, setting itself apart in the ladies’ footwear market
through a commitment to originality and innovation. With bold
designs and engaging marketing initiatives, the brand has struck a
chord with young consumers. Its string of successful collaborations
with renowned artists and designers, including the “Quirky Romance”
collection and the “Dare To Break Rules” collection, which debuted
on the Paris Fashion Week runway, has demonstrated its commitment
to pushing creative boundaries and its ambition to promote Chinese
original design to the international stage. Furthermore, strategic
partnerships with social media influencers, the launch of online stores
and a directly-managed store, along with a pop-up store in a youth-
centric non-traditional mall in Chengdu, have significantly expanded
its market reach and cultivated a loyal following among young, affluent
consumers.

To effectively capture growth opportunities, the Group continuously
optimised its supply chain by enhancing digitisation and standardising
large-scale transportation processes. These upgrades improved quality
control and efficiency, allowing the Group to expand its product
offerings while consistently delivering exceptional quality to uphold its
reputation.

BEOOC e B OBE AR A A

7 R R B S TR BT B A R - A SR R
TR IR L o SR R R AR AR T A AR DUHEAL
I i AR 203 o i A DA ER A (EL T 20 44 ) i ) A
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A A T B R A T T A IR e 2
] o A 4R 2 0 AT 1 B 0 B % B BE v A A > o
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EV e

Looking ahead to 2025, the global economy will likely encounter
significant challenges as tariffs and trade uncertainties loom.
Nonetheless, China’s emphasis on expanding domestic demand and
spurring consumption is expected to bolster high-quality economic
development in the long run and ignite growth in the retail market.
Adopting a conservative yet optimistic view on China’s economic
prospects for 2025, the Group will continue to refine its brand licensing,
direct retail and wholesale business strategies in response to evolving
economic trends and market dynamics, thereby building a more resilient
business foundation to navigate the complex operating environment. By
closely monitoring traffic trends, the Group will prudently expand its
presence in e-commerce channels and retail spaces that resonate with
its target audience for effective customer engagement. Building on its
successful branding initiatives, the Group will adhere to its proven,
comprehensive approach to strengthen the “DAPHNE” and “DAPHNE.
LAB” brands, fostering deeper emotional connections with customers
and positioning itself for long-term success.

Finally, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to our shareholders,
business partners and customers for their ongoing trust and support. I
would also like to extend my heartfelt thanks to our management team
and dedicated staff, whose contributions have been instrumental in our
achievements throughout the year.

Chang Chih-Kai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o B W e 525 A

In 2024, the global landscape remained complex and volatile, with
escalating geopolitical conflicts and rising trade protectionism
hindering global economic recovery. In response, China strengthened
macroeconomic regulation and control to boost market confidence,
supporting a stable economic growth trajectory. According to the
National Bureau of Statistics of China, China’s gross domestic product
(GDP) grew 5.0% year-on-year in 2024. Despite the internal and
external economic challenges, this moderate and orderly recovery
signals positive momentum for China’s economic outlook in 2025.
Supported by measures aimed at expanding domestic demand and
spurring consumption, the retail market witnessed steady growth, with
total retail sales of consumer goods increasing by 3.5% year-on-year.
However, this growth rate was lower than that of GDP, reflecting a
more cautious consumer sentiment compared to pre-pandemic times.
With a rational focus on value, consumers’ budget-conscious mindset
highlights tepid domestic demand and underscores a need to enhance
both consumption capacity and spending willingness of residents.

Meanwhile, the rapid development of online shopping in Mainland
China, coupled with the rising spending power of young consumers,
has fuelled a robust e-commerce market, even amidst global economic
fluctuations and shifting consumer behaviours. In 2024, China’s online
retail sales reached RMB15.5 trillion, marking a year-on-year growth
of 7.2%. While the overall scale of e-commerce market continues to
expand, the industry is facing the dilemma of increasingly saturated
user growth and intensifying competition for exiting players, further
exacerbating market competition. Moreover, the strong momentum
of emerging e-commerce platforms present significant challenges
to traditional established players. In response to cautious consumer
sentiment and the diversification of e-commerce channels, the Group
continued to leverage its advantages as an industry leader to bolster its
presence across both traditional e-commerce platforms and social media
while strategically positioning itself within emerging e-commerce
platforms. Drawing on its established competitive advantages and
proven strategies, the Group’s brand licensing business sustained
healthy growth. Alongside these efforts, the Group consistently
optimised its offline distribution channels, supply chain system and
brand strategies, resulting in robust sales growth that exceeds the
industry average.

In today’s dynamic and ever-evolving business landscape, a strong
brand is crucial in driving organic growth and long-term success.
Recognising that building a powerful brand requires long-term
commitment and constant refinement, the Group consistently amplified
its investments in rejuvenating its core brand “DAPHNE”, while
actively advancing the development of the new brand “DAPHNE.LAB”
launched a year ago. The Group adhered to a multi-faceted approach,
including original product design, strategic collaborations, influential
brand ambassador and creative marketing initiatives. This approach
effectively showcased the brands’ philosophies and values, raising
brand awareness, captured diverse audiences and cultivating meaningful
relationships with consumers, further enhancing its competitive edge.

TRV s RERE KR E M Z B > b B0
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Supported by a forward-thinking and seasoned management team, the
Group continuously fine-tuned its proven operating model to optimise
its brand licensing and distribution business and streamline its supply
chain, building resilience to stay ahead of the curve. Adapting to the
changing economic conditions and retail dynamics, the Group has taken
a measured approach to its expansion strategy, adjusting its online
and offline networks. As the market gradually recovers, the Group’s
prudent and orderly expansion approach has resulted in steady online
and offline network growth while maintaining operational efficiency,
demonstrating the Group’s agile response to market changes.

Moreover, the rise of online marketplaces continues to support
online retail sales. With continuous increase in income of Chinese
residents, consumers now have elevated expectations regarding product
quality and overall experience, unveiling significant opportunities in
vertical markets focused on personalised and decentralised shopping
experiences. Therefore, the Group has further leveraged its advantages
as an industry leader to strengthen its presence in emerging platforms,
particularly in segmented channels that cater to its target audience,
ensuring more precise engagement. By enhancing digital marketing
efforts across both traditional and emerging channels, the Group
achieved consistent growth in its brand licensing business in 2024.

In the face of tepid consumer spending and insufficient domestic
demand, the Group remained committed to refining its tried-and-
true strategies to bolster its market position, demonstrating strong
resilience through remarkable operational performance and strong year-
end results. Both revenue and operating profit experienced significant
growth, providing a competitive edge over the market and highlighting
the Group’s capability to navigate challenging times. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group’s total revenue for the year increased
23% year-on-year, reaching approximately RMB322.3 million
(2023: RMB262.6 million). Meanwhile, operating profit rose 43% to
approximately RMB96.6 million (2023: RMB67.6 million), positioning
it for sustainable growth ahead.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, basic earnings per share was
RMBO0.054 (2023: RMB0.034) and the Board recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK$0.02 per share (2023: HK$0.01 per
share), totalling approximately RMB37.2 million (2023: RMB17.9
million).

Following years of strategic enhancements and successful business
transformation, the Group’s brand licensing and distribution business
has established itself as a major force for steady growth. With a focus
on the “DAPHNE” brand in Mainland China, the Group is dedicated
to enhancing brand management and expanding the licensing and
distribution of footwear products, including ladies’ dress shoes
and casual shoes, through both online and offline channels. This
commitment has positioned the Group to sustain robust development
momentum while seizing market opportunities.

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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The Group strives to better serve the diverse needs of consumer,
“DAPHNE” launched a brand rejuvenation initiative that has achieved
remarkable success, with annual sales performance exceeding the Group’s
expectations. In September 2024, “DAPHNE” officially announced a
new brand ambassador to reinforce its commitment to revitalising its
identity, and launched a brand new offline physical store design, making
a bold return to the ladies’ footwear market with a refreshed image.
With a dynamic and diverse image, the brand ambassador’s unwavering
authenticity and boldness in defying conventions perfectly align with
the brand’s core belief of “Just Be Yourself”. This endorsement not
only deepens the emotional resonance between the “DAPHNE” brand
and contemporary women but also inspires every woman to bravely be
herself and walk with confidence. This revitalisation was complemented
by the launch of the original “CloudSoft” collection, characterised
by its comfort, lightweight design and functionality, reflecting the
brand’s poised yet effortless aesthetic. Additionally, the brand’s new
product categories, including children’s shoes and handbags, have
shown promising initial results. With these new ventures on track, the
“DAPHNE” brand sees significant potential for future growth.

As the proportion of e-commerce in total retail sales continues to
increase, the Group recognises the critical role that brand licensing
business plays in its ongoing development. The prominence of interest-
based e-commerce platforms has intensified market segmentation,
highlighting the growing demand for superior user experience,
competitive pricing and exceptional service. In reaction to these trends,
the Group has strengthened its online presence, broadening its consumer
base and increasing market penetration. Leveraging its powerful brand,
the Group continues to actively bolster its footprint in the e-commerce
arena. While maintaining a leading advantage on traditional
e-commerce platforms such as “Tmall”, “VIP.com”, and “JD.com”, the
Group has also kept investing in emerging platforms like “Douyin” and
“Pinduoduo”, achieving higher-than-expected growth and significant
results, establishing itself as a top player on these platforms. Moreover,
the sales team prudently adapted strategies in reply to market dynamics.
During the year under review, the Group enhanced communication with
e-commerce platforms to effectively leverage their resources, thereby
consolidating a stronger brand presence. To further bolster growth, the
Group explored innovative sales channels that leverage social media
attributes such as “Douyin”, “RedNote” and “DEWU.com”. This
strategy not only attracted younger demographics but also generated
positive brand exposure among key consumer segments.

In addition, the affordability of “DAPHNE” products contributed to
their strong appeal across a wide range of consumers. Recognising
the growing preference for value-for-money products, the Group has
ramped up its marketing efforts to foster deeper interactions with
customers, successfully establishing a strong brand presence on high-
traffic online platforms to drive long-term growth. Despite overall
market challenges, the Group’s commitment to its brand licensing
strategy has once again translated to tangible results. For the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group’s licensing fee income rose by 23%
year-on-year to approximately RMB127.0 million (2023: RMB103.6
million). Meanwhile, wholesale of goods under licensing arrangements
also showed a positive trend, experiencing a steady growth of 15%
year-on-year to approximately RMB174.5 million (2023: RMB151.2
million).
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While consumer confidence remained lacklustre, the Group adopted
a cautious approach to expand its offline franchised retail network.
Strategic adjustments were made in response to the changing
macroeconomic environment, retail market landscape, and store
performance and efficiency. As at 31 December 2024, there were
111 (2023: 87) physical shops and 790 (2023: 601) online shops, all
operated by our franchisees under the licensing arrangement of the
Group.

The avant-garde brand “DAPHNE.LAB” celebrated its first anniversary
with widespread market recognition for its originality and bold,
innovative spirit. “DAPHNE.LAB” has brought the “Dare To Be” brand
ethos to life through striking original designs and creative marketing
campaigns, successfully capturing the hearts of young consumers.
Leveraging on its product quality, competitive pricing and unique
designs, “DAPHNE.LAB” has cultivated a devoted customer base and
achieved satisfactory sales performance, particularly in the e-commerce
sector.

Recognising originality as its core value, the Group prudently invested
in enhancing its product offerings and brand recognition. Building on
the encouraging receptivity of past collaborations, the Group continued
to partner with renowned artists and designers to develop innovative
collections. In May 2024, “DAPHNE.LAB” launched the “Quirky
Romance” collection with an artist, which was met with enthusiastic
response. In addition, “DAPHNE.LAB” joined creative forces with
a prominent Chinese designer in September 2024 to launch “Dare To
Break Rules” collection and made its debut on the official Paris Fashion
Week runway, bringing Chinese design to the world stage and garnering
significant attention from both domestic and international media.
These successful collaborations underscore the Group’s unwavering
commitment to fostering original design and its ambition to carve out a
significant presence globally.

To enhance market penetration, the Group actively partnered with
social media influencers to create engaging content across various
platforms, resulting in enhanced customer interaction and an increase
in sales. In addition to social media marketing, the Group has expanded
market reach by launching “DAPHNE.LAB” online stores and directly-
managed stores. In November 2024, it opened a “DAPHNE.LAB” pop-
up store in a youth-oriented, non-traditional shopping mall in Chengdu,
which has shown better space efficiency than in typical shopping
malls. The pop-up store successfully captured the young consumer
demographic that resonates with the Group’s products, fostering
stronger connections with its target audience.

In light of the growing sales, the Group kept injecting marketing
resources to further optimise its supply chain, ensuring stringent quality
control from production to retail, striving to be more refined and
precise. During the year, the Group digitised its workflows, and unified
and integrated its large-scale transportation processes, resulting in
significant improvements in both efficiency and quality control. These
advancements have created a more robust and mature supply chain,
enabling the Group to continuously expand its product categories to
meet evolving consumer demands while maintaining high standards of
quality and service.

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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The Group’s revenue mainly comprises licensing fee income and sales
of goods in Mainland China. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group’s total revenue amounted to approximately RMB322.3 million
(2023: RMB262.6 million), an increase of 23% compared to the year of
2023.

AL G WA AR B b B RE i TR
A K &S E T NET - H=Z+—H
IF4EJE > RS E A BN NRE323H 80
(OB = AR#626F#T) » o F =
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For the year ended 31 December
BET A=+ —HILEE

2024 2023 Change
ZERINH e ik

RMB’ million RMB’ million

ARBEHEE LT AR¥EHE T
Licensing fee income  @FAfERdcA 2o 103.6. +23%
Sales of goods — wholesale B 174.5 151.2 +15%
Sales of goods — retail B E— e 20.8 7.8 +167%
Total sales of goods it 9 B AEURH 195.3 159.0 +23%
Cost of sales ﬁé%ﬁi$ (159.7) (131.2) +22%
_Gross profit from sales of goods  #améieM 6 278 +28%
Gross margin from sales of goods B h 5 E 18.2% 17.5% +0.7ppt F1 7755
Total revenue EE PN L 322.3 262.6 +23%
Total gross profit B A 162.6 131.4 +24%

Revenue from licensing fee income increased by 23%, from
approximately RMB103.6 million to approximately RMB127.0 million,
mainly attributable to the increase in unit price and overall volume of
footwear products licensed to the online franchisees compared to the
year of 2023.

The Group also engages in the distribution of footwear products and
accessories for better quality control and supply chain management to
both online and offline franchisees. For the year ended 31 December
2024, revenue from wholesale of goods amounted to approximately
RMB174.5 million (2023: RMB151.2 million), representing an increase
of 15% compared to last year, primarily due to the increase in sales
volume of products to our franchisees.

During the year under review, the Group’s revenue from retail business,
primarily for the online and offline shops of “DAPHNE.LAB” brand,
was approximately RMB20.8 million (2023: RMB7.8 million). Such
significant increase in revenue was mainly due to the launch of this
brand in April 2023.
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The Group’s revenue from sales of goods increased by 23% to
approximately RMB195.3 million during the year under review
compared to approximately RMB159.0 million for the year of 2023.
Gross margin from sales of goods also improved to 18.2% from 17.5%
for the year of 2023. Better gross margin from sales of goods was mainly
attributable to the better selling price as a whole.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s other income was
approximately RMB51.1 million (2023: RMB59.6 million), mainly
comprising gross rental income of approximately RMB39.9 million
(2023: RMB46.0 million) from investment properties. The decrease in
gross rental income was mainly due to rental reductions upon renewals.

The Group’s operating expenses (including other gains/(losses) — net,
selling and distribution expenses, general and administrative expenses,
and reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss) on financial assets)
were approximately RMB117.1 million during the year under review,
compared to the operating expenses of approximately RMB123.4
million for the year in 2023. The overall decrease in operating expenses
was mainly due to the reversal of impairment loss on value-added
tax recoverable amounted to RMB10.0 million (2023: Nil), partially
offset by the increase in employee benefits expense and marketing and
promotion expense.

The Group recorded an operating profit of approximately RMB96.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2024, an increase of RMB29.0
million or 43% compared to the operating profit of approximately
RMB67.6 million in 2023.

Finance costs represent interests on convertible notes and lease
liabilities. Since the convertible notes were matured and converted
into shares in October 2023, there was no interest on convertible notes
(2023: RMB3.8 million) during the year under review, and interest on
lease liabilities was approximately RMBO0.4 million (2023: RMBO0.4
million).

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s income tax credit
was approximately RMB9.7 million, compared to income tax expense
of approximately RMBO0.6 million last year. The income tax credit was
mainly due to the recognition of deferred income tax assets on tax losses
and temporary differences.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, profit attributable to
shareholders of the Company was approximately RMB106.6 million
(2023: RMB62.4 million), representing an increase of approximately
RMB44.2 million or 71% compared to the year of 2023. Basic earnings
per share was RMBO0.054 (2023: RMBO0.034) for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately RMB476.2 million (2023: RMB366.3
million), which were denominated mainly in Renminbi, Hong Kong
Dollars and United States Dollars. During the year under review, the net
increase in cash and cash equivalents is analysed as follows:

ROECWEF A=+ —H o REEB S KBS
LA NRMEAT6 280 B L (ZF Z=4F « AR
366.3E #IC) - EEUARY - u R E LB
{57 o (o] BE AT N > B4 R B 4 4 1 4y 338 0 3 A 00 43 AT
wmE

For the year ended 31 December
BETH=1+—HILEE

2024 2023

e~y 11/ eE i

RMB’million RMB’million

ARWHET ARWHET

Net cash inflow from operating activities S TEEE A WA A 135.1 115.9
Capital expenditure BB S (2.5) (2.5)

Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and HEYE - B K 2

equipment EEE ¢ - 0.2
Proceeds from disposal of investment properties i 8 4% & ¥ 2 2 ir 1% fk - 1.8
Payments for purchases of financial investments i A 4 il 4% & 2 7 t 2Kk (20.0) (31.8)
Proceeds from redemption of financial investments  Fg [1] 4 il #% & 2 fir {5 % k 11.1 42.3
Bank interest received TR 17 1B 8.8 7.8
Dividend paid oA E 17.9) -
Lease payments HEMR (5.9) (5.2)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests s i I 422 o P E - (42.5)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents B4 S B 46 458 W 1 hn v 108.7 86.0

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s interest income on
bank balances and deposits was approximately RMBS8.8 million (2023:
RMB?7.8 million).

The Group also purchases financial investments, comprising wealth
management products and certificates of deposits, which are classified
as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss or at amortised
cost.

The purchases of financial investments are carried out by the Group for
treasury management purpose in order to maximise the utilisation of
surplus cash. The Group considers that the purchases of the financial
investments will provide the Group with better returns than the returns
on deposits generally offered by commercial banks, and would not affect
the working capital or the normal business operation of the Group. As
such, management is of the view that the purchases of the financial
investments are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Group and
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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During the year under review, the fair value gain on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss was approximately RMBO0.3 million
(2023: RMB1.1 million) and the Group redeemed certificates of deposit
amounting to approximately RMB11.1 million upon their maturity in
January 2024. Certificates of deposit purchased from commercial banks
in Mainland China amounted to approximately RMB20.0 million (2023:
RMB31.8 million).

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had certificates of deposit with
carrying amount of approximately RMB30.5 million (2023: RMB21.3
million). These certificates of deposit have maturities ranging from 12
to 36 months from their dates of purchase, up to December 2025 to June
2026, and bears fixed interest rates ranging from 1.65% to 3.00% per
annum.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s equity attributable to shareholders
amounted to approximately RMB758.5 million (2023: RMB668.1
million). The Group’s net gearing ratio remained in net cash (2023:
net cash) position and the current ratio further improved to 3.4 times
(2023: 3.0 times). Management will continuously monitor the Group’s
financial performance and liquidity position and believes that the Group
has sufficient working capital and financial resources for its operation in
future.

Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial transactions and
recognised assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the Group’s entities to which they operate.
The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk with respect to
Hong Kong Dollars and United States Dollars.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by performing regular
reviews of the Group’s net foreign exchange exposures and the Group
may use forward foreign exchange contracts when major fluctuation
in the relevant foreign currency is anticipated. During the year ended
31 December 2024, the Group did not enter into any foreign exchange
forward contract to hedge the foreign exchange risk exposure. Any
significant exchange rate fluctuations of foreign currencies against
Renminbi may have had financial impact on the Group.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any
significant investments.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any future
plans for material investments or capital assets.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group had no pledged or charged
assets.
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During the year under review, the Group incurred capital expenditure of
approximately RMB2.5 million (2023: RMB2.5 million) primarily for
leasehold improvement. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group
did not have material capital commitments.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have any
significant contingent liabilities.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 109 (2023: 99)
employees predominantly in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
Employee benefits expense comprising directors’ emoluments for the
year ended 31 December 2024 was approximately RMB46.5 million
(2023: RMB42.8 million), including share-based payment expense of
approximately RMBO0.6 million (2023: RMB1.5 million). The overall
increase of 9% year-on-year in employee benefits expense was mainly
due to the increase in headcounts and discretionary performance bonus.

The Group values its human resources and recognises the importance of
retaining high calibre employees. Remuneration packages are generally
structured with reference to market conditions and terms as well as
individual qualifications. In addition, share options and discretionary
performance bonuses are granted to eligible employees based on the
performance of the Group and of the individual employees. The Group
also provides various retirement plans, medical insurance schemes, staff
purchase discounts and training programmes to employees in Mainland
China and Hong Kong.

Looking ahead to 2025, the global landscape is poised for accelerated
change, with tariffs and trade uncertainties presenting significant
economic challenges. Despite these external pressures, China’s long-
term potential growth remains robust, bolstered by government
initiatives aimed at stimulating economic growth through increased
consumer spending and expanded domestic demand. While consumer
sentiment remains cautious and price-sensitive, the Group holds a
conservative yet optimistic view of the domestic economic outlook for
2025.

To address this cautious and conservative consumer sentiment, the
Group will closely monitor policy directions and market trends,
making timely adjustments to strategies in product design, category
expansion, production techniques, supply chain, and sales channels for
greater flexibility in order to cater to consumers who prioritise value
and quality. The Group’s business model continues to integrate brand
licensing, direct retail and wholesale business, diversifying its portfolio
to further enhance resilience.
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Positioned as a mass market for ladies’ footwear brand, “DAPHNE”
is well-equipped to thrive in China’s current economic environment.
To stay attuned to market demand, the Group will allocate more
marketing resources to support the brand’s development, including
the launch of the Spring 2025 “Sweet Dreams” collection products,
alongside the introduction of a new brand ambassador to elevate its
appeal. Building on initial successful expansions into new categories
such as children’s shoes and handbags, “DAPHNE” will diversify
its product offerings while remaining receptive to further growth
opportunities. In response to the pressures from rising return rates
and intensifying market competition in online sales, the Group will
implement careful management strategies to address these challenges.
Meanwhile, “DAPHNE.LAB” aims for ambitious growth, focusing on
the development of fashionable, high-quality, and uniquely designed
footwear products. The upcoming Spring collection “Dare To Be
Failing In Love” is poised to inspire deeper emotional connections with
customers. Riding on the momentum, “DAPHNE.LAB” will actively
seek more collaborative opportunities to expand its reach, particularly
among high-spending younger generations. By balancing the accessible
“DAPHNE” brand with the more fashion-forward “DAPHNE.LAB”
brand, the Group aims to create a comprehensive market strategy that
appeals to diverse consumer segments.

Strategically, the Group will maintain its focus on e-commerce channels
to capitalise on the vibrant online retail market. By monitoring traffic
trends, the Group will explore different market segments across
e-commerce platforms to broaden its reach. Simultaneously, with a keen
awareness of market dynamics, the Group plans to expand its offline
distribution network in line with current development momentum,
particularly in retail spaces that resonate with its target audience. The
Group plans to open one to two “DAPHNE.LAB” stores in emerging
“non-traditional” first-tier cities that have seen a rise in malls catering to
young consumers. Moreover, the Group will leverage its strengths and
the resources of its franchisees to enhance brand integrity and establish
a more cohesive market presence. To further cultivate a loyal customer
base, the Group will increase and seamlessly integrate online and offline
experiences, thereby improving customer engagement and satisfaction.

In the face of the challenging consumer environment, the Group
is confident that its years of industry experience and strong brand
awareness, combined with efforts to enhance its operations and
adaptability, will enable it to stand out and maintain a favourable
position in the market.
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Mr. CHANG Chih-Kai, aged 44, has been an executive director of
the Company since November 2004 and has been appointed as the
chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) since May 2017. He was also
the chief executive officer (“CEO”) of the Company from April 2016 to
October 2020. Mr. Chang is also a member of each of the Nomination
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the board of directors (the
“Board”) of the Company. He is mainly responsible for the management
of the Board, product development and supply chain management of the
Group. Mr. Chang also holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

Mr. Chang studied a bachelor’s degree of art in The University of
Auckland in 2004 after graduation from Pakuranga College in New
Zealand. He is the brother of Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao and Ms. Chang
Wan-Hsun, both an executive director of the Company.

Mr. CHANG Chih-Chiao, aged 42, joined the Group in 2007 and has
become an executive director of the Company since June 2009. He
has been appointed as the CEO since October 2020 and is currently
responsible for strategic and business planning of the Group. He also
specialises in product design and marketing functions. Mr. Chang also
holds directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Chang obtained a bachelor’s degree in Visual Communication from
Northumbria University in the United Kingdom in 2007. Mr. Chang is
the brother of Mr. Chang Chih-Kai and Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun, both an
executive director of the Company.

Mr. WANG Jungang, aged 42, has been appointed as an executive
director of the Company and chief operating officer of the Company
since October 2020. He is responsible for the overall sales operation and
the development of brand licensing business of the Group. Mr. Wang
was a co-founder of Shanghai Tai Yue E-Commerce Ltd., also known as
Tailorism, an online made-to-measure startup company which aimed to
provide solutions for fitting of clothing based on 3D modeling and big
data computing, and acted as its chief executive officer from October
2014 to October 2020. He has extensive experience in establishing
financial models, and strategic and business operation planning. He was
previously the chief operating officer of Shanghai Muyao Textile Ltd.
(Shirley Pajamas) from February 2012 to September 2014 and worked
at Morgan Stanley Management Service (Shanghai) Ltd. as an analyst
from August 2008 to January 2012.

Mr. Wang obtained a master’s degree in Computer Software and
Theory from Peking University in July 2008 and a bachelor’s degree in
Computer Science and Technology from Nanjing University of Science
and Technology in July 2005.
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Ms. CHANG Wan-Hsun, aged 46, has been appointed as an
executive director of the Company since December 2024. Ms. Chang
has extensive experience in procurement, cost control and logistics
management. She has been serving various positions in the Group since
joining the Group in 2004 and has been the finance director in Shanghai
headquarters of the Group since October 2020. Ms. Chang is also a
director or a supervisor of certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Chang obtained a bachelor of arts degree from The University of
Auckland in May 2004. Ms. Chang is the sister of Mr. Chang Chih-Kai
and Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao, both an executive director of the Company.

Mr. HUANG Shun-Tsai, aged 71, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since 2001 and is also the chairman
of the Nomination Committee, and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Board. Mr. Huang is
also a director of two health technology companies in Taiwan and has
been active in the health technology field for over 30 years.

Mr. HON Ping Cho Terence, aged 65, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since September 2019. He is also
the chairman of the Audit Committee, and a member of each of the
Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Currently, Mr. Hon is also an independent non-executive director of
three other companies listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, namely Xiabuxiabu Catering Management (China) Holdings
Co., Ltd. (Stock Code: 520), 361 Degrees International Limited (Stock
Code: 1361) and SinoMab BioScience Limited (Stock Code: 3681).
Between December 2017 to May 2021, Mr. Hon was the independent
non-executive director of Jimu Group Limited (Stock Code: 8§187). He
was previously the chief financial officer and company secretary of
DTXS Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited (Stock Code:
620) from June 2016 (as chief financial officer) and November 2016 (as
company secretary) until September 2018. Prior to working at DTXS
Silk Road Investment Holdings Company Limited, Mr. Hon worked at
a number of companies, including Auto Italia Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 720) as chief financial officer and company secretary between
December 2013 and April 2016, China Dongxiang (Group) Co., Ltd.
(Stock Code: 3818) as chief financial officer between December 2010
and October 2012, Ka Wah Construction Materials (Hong Kong)
Limited as chief financial officer between September 2008 to December
2010, TOM Group Limited (Stock Code: 2383) between June 2001 and
February 2008 with his last position as the group finance director, and
Ng Fung Hong Limited as a company secretary of the group between
1996 and 2001. Before moving to the commercial sector, Mr. Hon
worked in an international accounting firm.
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Mr. Hon is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He obtained a master’s degree in Business
Administration (Financial Services) from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in November 2004.

Mr. TAN Philip, aged 42, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company since August 2021. He is also the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee, and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of the Board.

Currently, Mr. Tan has also been an executive director of Pacific
Millennium Packaging Group Corporation (Stock Code: 1820), a
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, with
effect from 1 November 2022 after having served as a non-executive
director between December 2019 and October 2022. Besides, he is
also a director of (i) Chongqing Stone Tan Credit Guarantee Company
Limited, (ii) Chongqing Stone Tan Financial Leasing Company
Limited; (iii) Chongqing Stone Tan Small Business Loans Company
Limited; (iv) Shanghai Asiacorp Communications Company Limited;
and (v) Shanghai Pacific Millennium Asiacorp Communications
Company Limited.

Mr. Tan has been working as the finance service product and project
director of Stone Tan China Finance and Investment (Hong Kong)
Company Limited since January 2010. Mr. Tan worked for Nestle
Group in the United States of America, France and Shanghai,
respectively, during the period from 2004 to 2008 and held various
positions including global sales development project manager and
regional sales manager. He also served various positions including
operational manager, project manager, technical manager and general
manager in the various group companies of Pacific Millennium
Packaging Group Corporation in the period between 2008 and 2009.

Mr. Tan holds a master’s degree of business administration from
University of Nebraska, USA and the degree of bachelor of science from
School of Business, Babson College, USA.

WA RERI ARG A G ER G B RF BT
fili €& 8 o R —FFNE+— HEEHFERT
KRBT B (S AR ) b 2057 o

MR 2 H - F - —FNABRERITE
AN FBSLIERATE R - IR BT EE G HME 8
TR UL EGRIESAZEGNAEY — -

HAET: SR E A 2 -4+ — A — HRIETR
% 7 0 AR T (AR 98 ¢ 1820) (— [HIIRA A s i &
THIARNF EHiZ2 AT 2 AT ESR > HHIRE
F— AT ZAZE R AR A W AT IR
WATEF o BoHh > B RIS AT G B sk 4 15 A 1B R
FRRAH 5 () E B A R E SR RA A S (i) 5B
T VLT I sk 0 /NBE B A BRA ) 5 (iv) B il s B
FiARA R K(v) EiEEY s aiE B RARA
FlZHEH o

ARG B T F AR — R AT IR A I R A
B A PR LA 5 Rl AR S E o S E A o Rk
S FF AR ZFE AR B AE R B R
Ko b de AR AR - AT RIS - 045 22 Bk B
B B B T H RGO b [ B 6 AEE o BRI F N
A 2 A SR S ] A R e A A A R R
TE T A T B A W I AT 2 (RS > LA RS
THH RS~ Bl A8 B R AR RS o

R S A R A 5% (B A A T A O B A T A B - R
i > DA B 9% 1 B2 A R B e o 52 e A 3% o) B B 5 -
fii

BEOOC e B OBE AR A A

| =% W AEFE R 23



24

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
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The Company recognises the vital importance of good corporate
governance to the Group’s success and sustainability. The Company
is committed to achieving a high standard of corporate governance
practices as an essential component of high quality and has introduced
corporate governance practices appropriate to the operation and growth
of its business.

The Company has applied the principles set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as contained in Appendix
C1 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Throughout the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Company has complied with all the applicable code provisions set
out in the CG Code.

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) will continue
to enhance its corporate governance practices appropriate to the
operation and growth of its business and to review such practices
from time to time to ensure that the Company complies with
statutory and professional standards and align with the latest
development.

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as
set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules for dealing in securities
of the Company by its directors. Having made specific enquiry
with all directors of the Company, all directors have confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company also requires relevant officers and employees of
the Group who, because of such office or employment, are likely
to possess inside information in relation to the Company or its
securities, be also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits
them to deal in securities of the Company at any time when he/
she possesses inside information in relation to those securities.
No incident of non-compliance of the Model Code by the relevant
officers and employees was noted by the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2024.
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The Board and board committees as at the date of this report

comprise: Gl NI
Members of the Board/ Date of first Audit Nomination Remuneration
Board Committees becoming director Committee Committee Committee
HREE/EHFABETRAAMA HRMEEFZHY HRZHE RAZRE  HWZHEA
Executive directors:
HITEF
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai (Chairman) 22 November 2004 Member Member
SR () “EENEF—-AZ+ZH MR ]
Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao (CEO) 12 June 2009
SR F I (TTHA#) “EEAEAAT A
Mr. Wang Jungang 21 October 2020
o Qb ot “EFCFREFASTH
Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun* 1 December 2024
SRAE A 4 1o “ECNEFZA—H
Independent non-executive directors:
BLFHITEF
Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai 31 July 2001 Member Chairman Member
B e “EZE-FEA=t+—H KA EX: ]
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence 25 September 2019 Chairman Member Member
AR A “E-AERAASAEH B MR ]
Mr. Tan Philip 2 August 2021 Member Member Chairman
EIN; ¥ “ECEAATH KA J8 A ER

* Ms. Chang confirms that she (i) has obtained the legal advice * R LEWREOE R - WE+—H =+ LA

referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules on 27 November
2024, and (ii) understands her obligations as a director of a listed
issuer under the Listing Rules.

The executive directors draw on a rich and diverse experience
from the footwear distribution and retail business through
both online and offline channels as well as brand management
while the independent non-executive directors possess
appropriate professional qualifications and management
expertise in various industries. Through active participation
in board meetings to bring independent judgement to bear
on issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability,
resources, key appointments and standards of conduct, taking
the lead in managing issues involving potential conflict of
interests and serving on board committees, all independent
non-executive directors contribute to the effective direction
of the Company and to safeguard the interests of the
Company and its shareholders.
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In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
independent non-executive directors are made available to the
Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board are committed
to assess the directors’ independence annually with regards to all
relevant factors related to the independent non-executive directors
including the following:

. required character, integrity, expertise, experience and

stability to fulfill their roles;

. time commitment and attention to the Company’s affairs;
. firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;
o declaration of conflicts of interest in their roles as

independent non-executive directors;

. no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor

in any relationship or circumstances which would affect the
exercise of their independent judgement; and

. the chairman meets with the independent non-executive

directors regularly without the presence of the executive
directors.

The Board has reviewed the above mechanism and considers the
same has been effectively implemented for the year ended 31
December 2024.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board was in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
directors (representing at least one-third of the Board), with at least
one independent non-executive director possessing appropriate
professional qualifications and accounting and related financial
management expertise.

Each independent non-executive director has provided the
Company annual confirmation of his independence to the
Company, and the Company considers these directors to be
independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The names,
biographies of the directors and relationship among them are set
out in the “Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” on
pages 21 to 23 of this annual report.
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The Board is responsible for overall management and control
of the Company, including the approval and monitoring of
all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal
control and risk management systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests),
financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant
information as well as the advice and service of the company
secretary and senior management. Any director may request
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense, upon making reasonable request
to the Board.

The Board has delegated responsibilities to the executive
directors and senior management of the Company, including
implementing decisions of the Board and directing and
conducting the day-to-day operation and the management of
the Group. The delegated functions and responsibilities are
periodically reviewed by the Board and approval has to be
obtained from the Board prior to any significant transactions
are entered.

The appointment of a new director must be approved by
the Board. The Board has delegated to the Nomination
Committee to select and recommend candidates for
directorship including the consideration of referrals and
engagement of external recruitment professionals when
necessary. The Nomination Committee has established
certain guidelines to assess the candidates. These guidelines
emphasise appropriate professional knowledge and industry
experience, personal ethics, integrity and personal skills, and
possible time commitments to the Board and the Company.

Each newly appointed director would receive a
comprehensive, formal and tailored induction package
covering business operations, policy and procedures of the
Company as well as the general, statutory and regulatory
obligations of being a director to ensure that he/she is
sufficiently aware of his/her responsibilities under the Listing
Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory requirements
and the Company’s business and governance policies.

Each of the directors (including non-executive directors) has
letter of appointment with the Company and is appointed
for an initial term of three years. All directors are subject
to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
and are eligible for re-election at annual general meetings
in accordance with the Listing Rules and the articles of
association of the Company. Every director newly appointed
by the Board is subject to re-election at the next following
general meeting after his/her appointment.
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Notwithstanding the fact that Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai has
served as an independent non-executive director for more
than 9 years, the Board is satisfied that Mr. Huang has
been providing independent and objective judgement
and advice to the Board to safeguard the interests of the
Company and the shareholders as a whole. He has also
actively participated in board meetings and board committee
meetings of the Company. Mr. Huang has been able to fulfill
the independence requirements as an independent non-
executive director over the years, and to the best knowledge
of the directors, he is independent from other directors and
management of the Company, and is free from any business
or other relationships or circumstances which could interfere
with the exercise of his independent and professional
judgement.

In addition, Mr. Huang is familiar with the Group’s
business and culture. He is also an entrepreneur on health
and technology industry for over 30 years who have been
and can continue to provide various advice to the Board
from different perspectives, and has contributed to the
effectiveness of the Board for the interest of the shareholders.
Besides, Mr. Huang, currently the chairman of the
Nomination Committee and a member of each of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company,
has also been continuously providing valuable guidance to
the Board.

The Board is therefore of the view that the long service of
Mr. Huang would not affect his exercise of independent
judgement and was satisfied that he has required character,
integrity and experience to continue to fulfill the roles of an
independent non-executive director.

Pursuant to article 84(1) of the Company’s articles of
association, at each annual general meeting one-third of
the directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a
multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-
third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general
meeting at least once every three years.

Accordingly, each of Mr. Chang Chi-Chiao, Mr. Huang
Shun-Tsai and Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence will retire from
office as directors at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company. All of them, being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election.

In addition, according to article 83(3) of the Company’s
articles of association, the directors of the Company shall
have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint
any person as a director of the Company either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board.
Any director so appointed shall hold office until the next
following annual general meeting of the Company and shall
then be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun, being an additional
director appointed by the Board on 1 December 2024, will
retire and, being eligible, offer herself for re-election as an
executive director at the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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The Board holds regular meetings no less than 4 times each
year to formulate overall strategy of the Group, monitor its
financial performance and maintain effective oversight over
management. Directors may participate either in person or
through electronic means of communications. Notice of
regular board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days prior to the meeting. For other board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.

Agenda of each board meeting is usually sent to all directors
together with the notice of meeting in order to give them an
opportunity to include any other matters in the agenda for
discussion in the meeting. Board papers together with all
appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to
directors at least 3 days before each board meeting to keep
the directors apprised of the latest development and financial
position of the Group and to enable them to make informed
decisions. The Board and each director also have separate
and independent access to the senior management whenever
necessary.

The Chairman and other relevant senior management
normally attend regular board and committee meetings, and
where necessary, other board and committee meetings to
advise on business development, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance,
environmental, social and governance issues and other major
aspects of the Group. Draft minutes are normally circulated
to all directors for comment in due course after each meeting
and the final copy, which is kept by the company secretary, is
open for directors’ inspection.

Any material transaction, which involves a conflict of
interests for a substantial shareholder or a director, will be
considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly convened
board meeting. Except for those circumstances permitted by
the Company’s articles of association, a director who has a
material interest in any contract, transaction, arrangement
or any other kind of proposal put forward to the Board for
consideration shall abstain from voting on the relevant
resolution and such director shall not be counted for quorum
determination purposes.

Apart from regular board meetings, the Chairman also held
a meeting with the independent non-executive directors
without the presence of the executive directors during the
year.

The Board annually reviews the implementation and
effectiveness of the above mechanism to ensure availability
of independent views and input to the Board.

Liability insurance for directors and officers of the Group
was maintained by the Company with coverage for any legal
liabilities which may arise in the course of performing their
duties. The scope of coverage of the insurance is subject to
review annually.
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All directors should keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities and of the conduct and business activities
of the Company. The Company is responsible for arranging
and funding suitable training for its directors. Accordingly,
the Company has put in place a training and development
programme for the directors including: (i) induction
programme as described in section “3.4 Appointment,
Re-election and Removal of Directors” above for newly
appointed directors; and (ii) on-going training and
professional development programmes for directors.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the directors of
the Company participated in the continuous professional
developments in relation to roles and responsibilities of
directors, and regulatory updates of the Listing Rules,
environmental, social & governance issues and corporate
governance development in the following manner:
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Name of Directors WHLM & W | Py fif 5 S B B
Executive directors: HITEF -

Mr. Chang Chih-Kai (Chairman) SR B (F ) v v
Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao (CEO) SRR E A (T ) v/ v/
Mr. Wang Jungang B v v
Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun SRMi A2+ v v
Independent non-executive directors: s AT E T

Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai oI B S A v v
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence B AR e A v v
Mr. Tan Philip R LS A v v/
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Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles
of chairman and chief executive officer should be separate
and should not be performed by the same individual. During
the year, Mr. Chang Chih-Kai, an executive director, has
been the Chairman of the Board and Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao,
an executive director, has been the CEO. The relationship
among them is set out in the “Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 21 to 23 of this annual report.

The Board has established three committees, namely
the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and
the Remuneration Committee, to assist it in overseeing
the Group’s affairs. Each committee has its defined and
written terms of reference setting out its duties, powers and
functions and being posted on the Company’s website and the
HKEXnews’s website. The board committees report regularly
to the Board on their decisions and recommendations and
they are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to
seek independent professional advice in appropriate
circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

The Audit Committee of the Board during the year and up to
the date of this report consists of the following directors:

Mr. Hon Ping Cho
Terence (Chairman)

Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai  Independent non-executive director

Mr. Tan Philip Independent non-executive director

Independent non-executive director

The primary role and functions of the Audit Committee are
to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information
(including interim and annual results) and reporting process,
risk management and internal control systems, and the
compliance with the applicable accounting principles and
practices, any applicable laws and the Listing Rules and
liaison with external auditors and internal auditors of the
Group.

During the financial year, two Audit Committee meetings
were held and the executive directors, management
and the independent auditors also attended to provide
necessary information. The Audit Committee considered
the audit service plan, terms of engagement and fees of the
independent auditors for the Board’s approval. It discussed
the nature and scope of the audit and reporting obligations.
It also reviewed the financial information of the Group
including the interim and annual financial statements, the
management letters and reports issued by the independent
auditor, and the reports on the matters of risk management
and internal control systems prepared by the internal audit
department.
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The Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 December 2024 have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. The Audit Committee was of the opinion that the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2024 comply with applicable accounting
standards and the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosures
have been made.

The Nomination Committee of the Board during the year
and up to the date of this report consists of the following
directors:

Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai  Independent non-executive director
(Chairman)

Mr. Hon Ping Cho Independent non-executive director
Terence

Mr. Tan Philip Independent non-executive director

Mr. Chang Chih-Kai Executive director

The Nomination Committee is responsible for recommending
suitable candidates to the Board for directorship, after
considering the independence and competence of the
nominees, to ensure that all nominations are fair and
transparent. The Nomination Committee reviews the
structure, size and composition (including skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board; identifies individuals suitably
qualified to become board members and selects or makes
recommendations to the board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorships; assesses the independence
of the independent non-executive directors; and makes
recommendations to the board on the appointment or re-
appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive.

During the financial year, two Nomination Committee
meetings were held. The Nomination Committee reviewed
the policy for nomination of directors, the structure, size
and diversity of the Board, considered the independence of
independent non-executive directors and recommended the
re-appointment of retiring directors which were approved
by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting. It also made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of a female executive director during the year.

It is the policy of the Nomination Committee to adopt the
following procedure, process and criteria for selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships.
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and
recommend candidate(s) for directorships to the Board
by giving due consideration to a wide range of criteria,
having due regard to the benefits of diversity on the Board,
including but not limited to gender, age, experience, cultural
and educational background, expertise, skills and know-
how, sufficient time to effectively carry out their duties,
their services on other listed and non-listed companies
(if any, which should be limited to reasonable numbers),
qualifications including accomplishment and experience
in the relevant industries the Company’s business is
involved in, independence, reputation for integrity, potential
contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the Board
and commitment to enhance and maximise value for
shareholders.

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board
for the appointment of a director in accordance with the
following procedure and process:

(a) Dby giving due consideration to the current composition
and size of the Board, develop a list of desirable skills,
perspectives and experience at the outset to focus the
search effort;

(b) consult any source it deems appropriate in identifying
or selecting suitable candidates, such as referrals from
existing directors, advertising, recommendations
from independent agency firms, and proposals from
shareholders of the Company, with due consideration
given to the criteria set out in the section titled
“Selection Criteria” above;

(c) adopt any process it deems appropriate in evaluating
the suitability of the candidates, such as interviews,
background checks, presentations and third-party
reference checks;

(d) upon considering a candidate suitable for the
directorship, the Nomination Committee will hold a
meeting and/or by way of written resolutions to, if
thought fit, approve the recommendation to the Board
for appointment;

(e) make the recommendation to the Board in relation to the
proposed appointment and the proposed remuneration
package; and

(f) the Board will have the final authority on determining
the selection of nominees.
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The Company has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Board Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to
achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Company seeks
to achieve board diversity through having due regard to a
number of diversity factors, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and education background, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, in the
selection criteria in considering the appointment of new
directors. The Company will also take into account factors
relating to its own business model and specific needs from
time to time. The ultimate decision is based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the
Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises seven
directors, one of them is female member. Three of the
directors are independent non-executive directors, thereby
promoting critical review and control of the management
process. The Board will continue to adjust the proportion
of female members in the future if suitable candidates are
available.

The Board sets measurable objectives to implement the Board
Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to
time and at least once per year to ensure their appropriateness
and ascertain the progress made towards achieving those
objectives. The Nomination Committee will review the Board
Diversity Policy from time to time to ensure its continued
effectiveness.

As of 31 December 2024, female employees made up
approximately 54% of our workforce in Mainland China and
Hong Kong. The gender equality and women’s empowerment
are of unparalleled importance to the Group and are deeply
entrenched in our corporate culture. Gender diversity at
workforce levels is disclosed in the “KPIs Summary Table”
section of the Company’s “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report 2024”.
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The Remuneration Committee of the Board during the year
and up to the date of this report consists of the following
directors:

Mr. Tan Philip
(Chairman)

Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai  Independent non-executive director

Independent non-executive director

Mr. Hon Ping Cho Independent non-executive director
Terence
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai Executive director

The Company has adopted the model whereby the
Remuneration Committee makes recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages and terms of service
contracts of individual director (including executive director)
and senior management. The Remuneration Committee is
also responsible for making recommendations to the Board
on the Company’s policy and structure for remuneration of
all directors of the Company and senior management of the
Group and other matters relating to remuneration, as well as
assessing the performance of the executive directors of the
Company and reviewing and/or approving matters relating
to share schemes described under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules. The remuneration of all directors is subject to regular
monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that
their remuneration and compensation are reasonable.

During the financial year, two Remuneration Committee
meetings were held, in which the policy for the remuneration
of executive directors and management was reviewed, the
performance of the executive directors and management
were assessed, and the remuneration packages of individual
directors and management were reviewed and considered.
It also reviewed the remuneration of the newly-appointed
executive director. Details of the remuneration paid/payable
to individual directors and senior management during the
year under review are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

During the year under review, no share option was granted to
any of the directors and senior management of the Company.
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The attendance records of each of the directors at the board
meetings, board committee meetings, annual general meeting
(AGM) of the Company held during the year ended 31
December 2024 are set out in the table below:

REEEZZMNFESZH =+ —HILF
BE 5 AN AV ERAT 2 R ek - ik
NEAG G - BRAEE KT (RAEF K
) 2 AEFHFEHE I EES T

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

LE ] Te V& Jik-F Ve
Audit ~ Nomination Remuneration

Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
Name of directors HHAH HHE  HREHE  WAZHE FMZRE MAEEAG
Executive directors: Hir#EE
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai (Chairman) RENLE (£ 515 - 22 212 11
Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao (CEO) REE L (THAR) 5/5 - - - 1
Mr. Wang Jungang THRERE 5/5 - - - 111
Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun* b+ 1" - - - -
Independent non-executive directors: WUHHTESE
Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai H B e 515 22 22 22 111
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence BN 5/5 22 22 22 1
Mr. Tan Philip 9N, it 5/5 22 22 22 1

* appointed on 1 December 2024
AR A — HEAE

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
duties of the Company. Terms of reference adopted by the
Board include the duties of the Board on corporate governance
functions to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices
on corporate governance, to review and monitor the training
and continuous professional development of the directors and
the senior management, to review and monitor the Company’s
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements, to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
and compliance manual applicable to employees and directors, and
to review the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024

HEEGRTBEITALNAREREY > HEgL
g Rl R ORI G RN A ERTE) - RE
BV 5 R o A 4 T A SR UK S W R S R
[P o B i AR BN B 2 BRI R AR
SRR B BB AR R B R Nk B
B BRI BUR SRR il ~ 7 B BB
BT R HEHEAT ARG BT Kbt
AL ST A SEE A ST 2 A UL A 4 SR A
ol BUER 2 ERL o



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
e SRR

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for
preparing the financial statements of the Group. The Board,
supported by the financial controllers and the finance
department, is responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group. In the preparation of the
financial statements, the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and the Listing Rules have
been adopted, the appropriate accounting policies have
been consistently applied, and reasonable judgements and
estimates are properly made.

Management should provide sufficient explanation and
information to the Board to enable it to make an informed
assessment of financial and other information put before it
for approval. Management should also provide all members
of the Board with monthly updates giving a balanced and
understandable assessment of the Group’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the board
as a whole and each director to discharge their duties under
Rule 3.08 and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.

The Board aims to present a clear and balanced assessment
of the Group’s performance in the interim and annual
reports to shareholders, and make appropriate disclosure
and announcements in a timely manner. The directors are
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, regarding their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of
the Group is set out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on
pages 57 to 61 of this annual report.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration
paid/payable to PricewaterhouseCoopers for the
provision of audit service was RMB1,785,000 (2023:
RMB1,707,000), and no non-audit services were provided
by PricewaterhouseCoopers (including any entity that is
under the common control, ownership or management with
the auditor or any entity that a reasonable and informed third
party having knowledge of all relevant information would
reasonably conclude as part of the auditor nationally or
internationally) during the year under review (2023: Same).

The Audit Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board as to the appointment,
reappointment or removal of the independent auditors.
There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the independent auditor of the Company.
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The Board is responsible for risk management (including
ESG risk) and internal control systems of the Group and for
reviewing its effectiveness. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss.

Aimed at providing reasonable assurance against material
errors, losses or fraud, the Company has established risk
management procedures which comprise the following
process:

. Risk identification: identify major and significant risks
that could affect the achievement of goals of the Group;

. Risk evaluation and assessment: assess and evaluate
the identified risk according to its likely impact and the
likelihood of occurrence; and

. Risk management and mitigation: develop effective
control activities to mitigate the risks.

In particular, procedures have been designed for safeguarding
assets against unauthorised use or disposition, ensuring the
maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for
publication, and ensuring compliance of applicable laws,
rules and regulations.

Risk identification and assessment are performed or updated
annually, and the results of risk assessment, evaluation and
mitigation of each function or operation are recorded and
communicated to the Board and management for reviews.

An internal audit department has been established to conduct
risk management and internal audit of the Group. It performs
risk-based audits to review the effectiveness of the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems so as to
provide assurance that key business and operational risks
are identified and managed. The work carried out by the
internal audit department reports to the Audit Committee
with its findings and makes recommendations at least twice
a year. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Board
has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group,
including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management functions.

During the year under review, the principal risks of the Group
were identified and classified into strategic risks, operational
risks, financial risks and compliance risks that might have
significant impact on the Group. These risks included:
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Strategic risk refers to the risk of failing to maintain
the demand and profitability due to the economic
slowdowns and/or fluctuations in China economy.

The Group has been consistently enhancing its strategic
development planning by strengthening its analysis of
macroeconomic and industrial trends and defining clear
objectives and pathways for strategic implementation to
align with its evolving development needs. In addition,
the Group regularly monitors the progress of the
implementation of its strategies, reviews the status of
strategic initiatives and makes timely adjustments to the
allocation of resources as needed.

Operational risk refers to the risk that the Group
heavily relies on a limited number of franchisees for a
significant portion of the Group’s revenue.

The Group has been identifying additional potential and
reliable franchisees to minimise potential disruptions.

Financial risk refers to the credit risk that the customers,
suppliers, and/or financial institutions would be unable,
unwilling or incapable of performing or repaying its
obligations on time and in full, thereby result in loss to
the Group.

The Group regularly evaluates the creditworthiness
of customers, suppliers and financial institutions, and
establishes clear credit limits for each of the customers
based on their creditworthiness and financial stability.
The Group continuously monitors the financial health
and payment behaviour of counterparties to identify
early signs of potential default.

Compliance risk refers to the frequent changes in
government policies and regulations which may have
impact on the Group’s business operations and lead to
increase in compliance cost.

The Group from time to time monitors and analyses
upcoming policy changes, regulatory updates and legislative
developments. In addition, the Group regularly assesses
the potential impact of regulatory changes on the Group’s
operations, costs and profitability, and allocates a dedicated
budget for compliance-related expenses to avoid unexpected
financial strain.

The Company considers its risk management and internal
control systems effective and adequate.
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Whistleblowing Policy

The Board has adopted a whistleblowing policy
(the “Whistleblowing Policy”). The purpose of the
Whistleblowing Policy is to (i) foster a culture of
compliance, ethical behaviour and good corporate
governance across the Group; and (ii) promote the
importance of ethical behaviour and encourage the
reporting of misconduct, unlawful and unethical
behavior.

The nature, status and the results of the complaints
received under the Whistleblowing Policy are reported
to the chairman of the Audit Committee or the human
resource director of the Group. No incident of fraud
or misconduct that has material effect on the Group’s
financial statements or overall operations for the year
ended 31 December 2024 has been discovered.

The Whistleblowing Policy is reviewed annually by the
Audit Committee to ensure its effectiveness.

Anti-corruption Policy

The Board has adopted an anti-corruption policy (the
“Anti-corruption Policy”). The Group is committed
to achieving the highest standards of integrity and
ethical behaviour in conducting its business. The Anti-
corruption Policy forms an integral part of the Group’s
corporate governance framework. The Anti-corruption
Policy sets out the specific behavioural guidelines
that the Group’s personnel and business partners
must follow to combat corruption. It demonstrates the
Group’s commitment to the practice of ethical business
conduct and the compliance of the anti-corruption
laws and regulations that apply to its local and foreign
operations. In line with this commitment and to ensure
transparency in the Group’s practices, the Anti-
corruption Policy has been prepared as a guide to all
Group’s employees and third parties dealing with the
Group.

The Anti-corruption Policy is reviewed and updated
periodically to align with the applicable laws and
regulations as well as the industry best practice.
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Disclosure of Inside Information

The Group has in place a policy on disclosure of inside
information which sets out the procedures and internal
controls for handling and dissemination of inside
information.

The policy provides guidelines to the directors, officers
and all relevant employees of the Group to ensure proper
safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching
the statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes
appropriate internal control and reporting systems to
identify and assess potential inside information.

Key procedures in place include:

. defining the requirements of periodic financial
and operational reporting to the Board and
company secretary to enable them to assess inside
information and make timely disclosures, if
necessary;

. controlling the access to inside information
by employees on a need-to-know basis, and
safeguarding the confidentiality of the inside
information before it is properly disclosed to
public; and

. procedures of communicating with the Group’s
stakeholders, including shareholders, investors,
analysts etc. in ways which are in compliance with
the Listing Rules.

The Group has also established and implemented
procedures to handle enquiries from external parties
related to the market rumours and other affairs of the
Group.

To avoid uneven dissemination of inside information,
the dissemination of inside information of the
Company shall be conducted by publishing the relevant
information on the respective websites of the Company
and the HKEXnews.

Mr. Cheung Chun Hay has joined the Group since 2007 and has
been the Company Secretary of the Company since December
2013. Mr. Cheung is currently also the vice president in finance of
the Group and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs.
During the year ended 31 December 2024, Mr. Cheung has duly
complied with the relevant professional training requirement under
Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.
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The Board recognises the importance of good communication
with its shareholders and investors. To ensure that
shareholders and potential investors are provided with ready,
equal and timely access to balanced and understandable
information about the Company, the Company has
established several channels to communicate with the
shareholders as follows:

(a) the Company maintains website at “www.daphneholdings.com”
where information and updates on the Group’s business,
financial information, corporate governance practices
and other information are available to the public;

(b) other corporate communication such as annual reports,
interim reports and circulars are issued in printed
form and are available on the HKEXnews website
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s website;

(c) periodic announcements are made through the Stock
Exchange and published on the respective websites of
the HKEXnews and the Company;

(d) annual and extraordinary general meetings provide
a forum for the shareholders to make comments
and exchange views with the directors and senior
management; and

(e) the Hong Kong share registrar of the Company serves
the shareholders in respect of share registration,
dividend payment and related matters.

Shareholders and investors may also address enquires to the
Company’s investor relations personnel by letter or email.
Contact information is listed on page 3 of this annual report.

The Company continues to enhance communication and
relationship with its shareholders and investors. The
Board designates personnel to maintain regular dialogue
with institutional investors and analysts through one-on-
one meetings, non-deal roadshows and investor briefings,
whenever necessary, to keep them informed of the Group’s
development.

Directors (including non-executive directors) and the
external auditors also meet and communicate with
shareholders at the annual general meetings of the Company.
The Chairman proposes separate resolutions for each issue
to be considered and put each proposed resolution to the vote
by way of a poll. Voting results are posted on the websites of
the HKEXnews and the Company on the day of the annual
general meeting.
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The Company considers its shareholders communication
policy implemented effectively.

There was no change in the memorandum and articles
of association of the Company during the year. These
constitutional documents are available on the websites of the
Company and the HKEXnews.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend
Policy”). According to the Dividend Policy, in deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia,
the following factors:

(i) the general financial condition of the Group;

(ii) the Group’s actual and future operations and liquidity
position;

(iii) the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
future expansion plans;

(iv) the Group’s debt to equity ratios and the debt level;

(v) the retained profits and distributable reserves of the
Company and each of the subsidiaries of the Group;

(vi) the shareholders’ and the investors’ expectation and
industry’s norm;

(vii) the general market conditions; and
(viii) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

Dividends may be declared and paid to the shareholders of
the Company by way of cash or by other means that the Board
considers appropriate. The declaration and payment of a
dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions
under the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and the
Company’s articles of association and any other applicable
laws and regulations. The Board will continually review
the Dividend Policy and reserves the right in its sole and
absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel
the Dividend Policy at any time. The Dividend Policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the
Company in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way
obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.

b

A A R FEBOR @ A BOR A5 B A it -

RN AR R 2 AL AR KA S A ) S
B o 2% 5 RS TR AL R A ol S A
W5 5 T 5 o Al v A B

A2 F B BR A I B BOR (T B B3R D)
MR R BOR > 7R R E @mﬁﬁ&u
T i E e S RNy > TR g T A
o HA e

() AEER—BRTBIRI

(i) ASEE Y B B ORN SR ok 4 1 KO B B 4
R 5

(i) A2 FE 8 G & ok R Rk R
g

(iv) ASEFR B ABHE SR R AR KT

(v) AR ) R A A A5 R S ) DR B
0T 4353 IR fek A 5

(vi) BB R B AT S R

(vii) — GG K&
(viii) o 5 Er 52 A 8 AT ] HoAth IR o

Jie ST A B 4 T o B T o A 9
o 7 E IR R IRAT T A AR o AR A ]
B R B IR AT BB AN JE R S B 2 R A RDE
B A 77 ) AL e R A0 ) AT A 70 92k
FRIEHL I AT AT R o 3 5 8 5 A AR AT R
LRSI R B O — % 48 3 1Y 7 R B I T
B AERT B MO BRGSO - i
S BCRAEAS & DUE ] 77 3R A 2 7 A B
HOR AR LR B R 4 RO 7RGl B SR
B LA 7 4 A F A AT A AT 15 ]
ORI E IR R

R B R AR AT | DS WAEER 43



44

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
e SRR

On behalf

Pursuant to article 58 of the articles of association of the
Company, the Board may whenever it thinks fit convene an
extraordinary general meeting. Any one or more shareholders
(the “requisitionist(s)”) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition one-tenth or more of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings
of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition deposited the Company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong to the Board or the company secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business
specified in such requisition and to add resolutions to a
meeting agenda; and such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) themselves
may convene a physical meeting at only one location, and
all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the
requisitionist(s) by the Company.

There are no provisions under the Company’s articles of
association or the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands
regarding procedures for shareholders to put forward
proposals at general meetings other than a proposal of a
person for election as director. Shareholders may follow
the procedures set out above to convene an extraordinary
general meeting for any business specified in such written
requisition.

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the investor relations personnel
of the Company by letter or email. Details of the contact
information are set out on page 3 of this annual report.

of the board of directors

Chang Chih-Kai

Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025

Daphne International Holdings Limited

| Annual Report 2024

RRAEA N 7] 2 ALAK R R A0 RIS 58k
B AT LR 2 A 0 A A ey ] A B B R AR
IR o AT — iz s LB R R 2 2R
FRA AL RV A (BARRRIBOR R &2
BEEHE) > 2 — B B BOR (T2 %
SRON 2 1) T AT AT T 0 A7 HE 228 288 1) AR % ) 2
g B m AL E R R T EOR S A7 OR AR
NEN A EEESEME > EREEE
A BB B O & - LA B % K o 15
9 AT e 255 SIS e AR S I PR S B
% R A R 2 % SR AR W AR T A B AT e
HMEEEHE -+ —HR EHGRA
HEARARKG BT > AIEZZERA
LT B AR AT e
R S SR D o 2 R R A Y P
A7 BB S i AR 8 A 1) AR B BOR N1
it e

WA A 7 2 AR R 2 RS
A Sl AR RO B 4 2 oA
T 2 (A MM A2 EE H R
B1) o SR AT A T 2 AT AR A0 AR ) R
T A B R Y A B R R OR o

e AR 325 AR 15 bR B T8 1) A 2y R 4 B
GUNERIADE & R g THTEEiY REE A
It A L N O AR R 3

NEEHT

Ea
Bl

W —EHEZH AR



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
3 Hl

The directors submit their report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (together the
“Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2024.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements. The Group is principally engaged in licensing, distribution
and sale of footwear products and accessories in Mainland China.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by reportable
segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
is provided in the Chairman’s Statement, Management Discussion and
Analysis, Corporate Governance Report of this annual report, and the
Company’s “Environmental, Social and Governance Report 2024”.

As far as the board of directors is aware, the Group has complied with
the relevant laws and regulations that may cause a significant impact on
the business and operation of the Group in the event of a material breach
or non-compliance. During the year ended 31 December 2024, there was
no material breach nor non-compliance with the applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

A separate “Environmental, Social and Governance Report
2024” has also been published on the websites of the HKEXnews
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.daphneholdings.com) in
compliance with the “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting
Guide” as set out in Appendix C2 to the Listing Rules.

The dividend policy of the Company is set out on page 43 of this annual
report under the Corporate Governance Report section.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024 and the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at that date are set
out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 132.

The board of directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK$0.02 (2023: HK$0.01) per share, totalling approximately
RMB37,198,000 (2023: RMB17,934,000) in respect of the year ended
31 December 2024.

There were no arrangements under which any dividends are waived or
agreed to be waived by the shareholders of the Company.

There was no charitable and other donations made by the Group during
the year (2023: Nil).
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Movements in investment properties and property, plant and equipment
of the Group are set out in Notes 14 and 15 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively. The “Particulars of Major Investment
Properties” are set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report.

Movements of the share capital of the Company during the year ended
31 December 2024 are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial
statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to RMB348,669,000 (2023: RMB329,230,000). Movements
in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the year under
review are set out in Notes 28 and 34 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with any
of the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ approval
requirements.

In addition, the related party transactions shown in Note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions under the Listing
Rules.

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year are
set out in Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements and “Share
options scheme” section below.

The Company did not issue any share or debenture during the year ended
31 December 2024.

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association and there is no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of this annual report.

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s shares for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Daphne International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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The directors of the Company during the year under review and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive directors:

Mr. Chang Chih-Kai (Chairman)

Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Wang Jungang
Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun — appointed on 1 December 2024
Independent non-executive directors:

Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai

Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence

Mr. Tan Philip

According to article 84(1) of the Company’s articles of association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the directors for the time being
(or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest to but
not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years.

Accordingly, each of Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao, Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai
and Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence will retire from office as directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. All of them, being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

According to article 83(3) of the Company’s articles of association, the
directors of the Company shall have the power from time to time and at
any time to appoint any person as a director of the Company either to
fill a casual vacancy on the board of directors or as an addition to the
existing board of directors. Any director so appointed shall hold office
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Accordingly, Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun, being an additional director
appointed by the board of directors on 1 December 2024, will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

All the independent non-executive directors have confirmed their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and based
on such confirmations, the Company is of the opinion that the
independence status of the independent non-executive directors
remained intact for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Brief biographies of directors and senior management are set out on
pages 21 to 23 of this annual report.
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The term of the directorship of each director is generally for a period
of three years unless either party gives one month written notice to the
other to terminate the letter of appointment before the expiry of the
existing term.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Details of the five highest paid individuals and the emoluments of the
directors and senior management of the Group are set out in Notes 13
and 33 to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

No director has agreed to waive any of his/her emoluments for the year
ended 31 December 2024.

The Company’s remuneration policy comprises primarily a fixed
component (in the form of a base salary) and a variable component
(which includes discretionary performance bonus and other merit
payments), considering other factors such as their experience, level of
responsibility, individual performance, the performance of the Group
and general market conditions.

The Remuneration Committee will meet at least once for each year to
discuss remuneration related matters (including the remuneration of
the directors and senior management) and review the remunerations
policy of the Group. The Remuneration Committee will then make
recommendations to the board of directors on the remuneration
packages of each individual director and senior management.

The Group operates a defined contribution scheme in Hong Kong which
comply with the requirements under the Mandatory Provident Fund
(“MPF”) Schemes Ordinance. All assets under the schemes are held
separately from the Group under independently administrated funds.
Contributions to the MPF scheme follow the MPF Schemes Ordinance.
In Mainland China, the Group’s employees are members of a state-
managed retirement benefit plans operated by the Chinese government.
The Group’s subsidiaries in Mainland China are required to contribute
a specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme
to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
the retirement benefit plans is to make the specified contributions. As
at 31 December 2024 and 2023, except for voluntary contribution, no
forfeited contribution under the above-mentioned schemes is available
to reduce the contribution payable in future years.
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No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries, fellow
subsidiaries or its parent company was a party and in which a director of
the Company and the director’s connected party had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any
time during the year under review.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no (i) contract
of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries; and a
controlling shareholder of the Company or any of its subsidiaries nor
(ii) any contracts of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling shareholder or any of
its subsidiaries.

As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of each
director and chief executive in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XYV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)), as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code were as follows.

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company:
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Number of underlying Total % of total
Name of directors Capacity shares held shares interests issued shares
MG T #EAT
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(Note 1)
(Bt —)
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai Personal interests - 23,200,000 23,200,000 1.17
SRA P (PN
Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao Personal interests - 20,200,000 20,200,000 1.02
R F A PN
Mr. Wang Jungang Personal interests - 51,800,000 51,800,000 2.62
ER ML 18 N\ HE 45
Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun Personal and spouse 3,600,000 18,700,000 22,300,000 1.13
fe i 40 2 - interests (Note 2)
I8N e T A HE 4 (BFE=)
Notes: Mt -
1. These interests represented the interests in underlying shares of the Company in %% HE 5 48 4% T # 38 2 WEIRHE I 5 o 2 A 2 Wl AH B IR 03

respect of share options granted to the directors.

2. 18,700,000 underlying shares comprise (i) 17,950,000 share options granted to
Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun; and (ii) 750,000 share options granted to Mr. Liao Nan-
Hsuan, the spouse of Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun, under the share option scheme of
the Company. Under the SFO, Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun is deemed to be interested
in the 750,000 share options held by Mr. Liao Nan-Hsuan.
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, so far as is known to
any directors or chief executive of the Company, none of the directors
or chief executive of the Company had any interests or short positions
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which were required (i) to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have such provisions of the SFO), or (ii) to be entered in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352
of the SFO, or (iii) as otherwise to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

The register of substantial shareholders required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO shows that as at 31 December 2024, the
Company had been notified of the following substantial shareholders’
interests and short positions, being 5% or more of the Company’s issued
shares. These interests are in addition to those disclosed above in respect
of the directors and chief executive.

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the Company:
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Approximate

Total % of total

Name of shareholders Capacity interests issued shares

#4062 81T

E 25 ity 48 %

Jit 3K 4 1 5 A [EF: g4

Lucky Earn International Ltd. Beneficial owner 527,442,915 (Note 1) 26.66
JEETR ZE DN (Bt 7t —)

Lemon Water Limited Beneficial owner 198,719,493 (Note 2) 10.04
JEETR ZE DN (e =)

Mr. Wan Liujun Interests of controlled corporation 198,719,493 (Note 2) 10.04
BE A Z YA 2 HE AR (e =)

BIDIBI Limited Beneficial owner 100,701,535 (Note 3) 5.09
JEETR ZE DN (HraF =)

Mr. Yu Zhongyin Interests of controlled corporation 100,701,535 (Note 3) 5.09
AR Z YA 2 HE AR (HraF =)

Mr. Yu Zhongsu Interests of controlled corporation 100,701,535 (Note 3) 5.09
R RE e Z YA 2 HE AR (HraF =)

Notes: W aE

1. Mr. Chang Chih-Kai, the chairman of the board of directors and an executive
director of the Company, Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao, an executive director and
chief executive officer of the Company, Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun, an executive
director of the Company and their sister have beneficial interests of 26%, 26%,
24% and 24% each, respectively, in Lucky Earn International Ltd., a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

2. Lemon Water Limited is solely owned by Mr. Wan Liujun. By virtue of the SFO,
Mr. Wan Liujun is deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held by
Lemon Water Limited.

3. Mr. Yu Zhongyin and Mr. Yu Zhongsu have beneficial interests of 50% each in
BIDIBI Limited, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. By virtue
of the SFO, they are deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company held
by BIDIBI Limited.
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Saved as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had
not been notified by any person of any interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which as recorded in the
register to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

On 25 May 2022, the Company terminated the share option scheme
which was adopted in 2013 (the “2013 Scheme”). Upon termination
of the 2013 Scheme, no further share options could be granted under
the 2013 Scheme but, in all other respects, the provisions of the 2013
Scheme shall remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of any share options granted prior to the expiry of the 2013
Scheme.

As at the date of this report and 31 December 2024, the total number of
shares available for issue (based on options granted and not exercised)
pursuant to the 2013 Scheme was 129,350,000 shares, representing
approximately 6.54% of the issued shares of the Company.

On 25 May 2022, a new share option scheme (the “2022 Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company and adopted by the
Company. Unless otherwise cancelled or amended, the 2022 Scheme
will remain in force for 10 years from the date of adoption (i.e. until 24
May 2032).

The purpose of the 2022 Scheme is to enable the Company to grant
options to eligible participants, including any full-time or part-time
employees, officers or directors (including any executive directors,
non-executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of
the Group (subject to approval by the remuneration committee of the
Company) as incentives or rewards for their contribution or potential
contribution to the Group.

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options to be granted under the 2022 Scheme and any other
share schemes of the Company must not exceed 10% of the shares
of the Company in issue on 25 May 2022, being the date of approval
and adoption of the 2022 Scheme unless shareholders’ approval has
been obtained. The shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2022
Scheme and any other share schemes of the Company at any time shall
not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the shares of the Company in issue
from time to time.

As at 1 January 2024 and 31 December 2024, the total number of
options available for grant, hence shares available for issue under the
2022 Scheme was 181,405,662 which was approximately 9.17% of the
issued shares of the Company. There is no service provider sub-limit
under the 2022 Scheme.
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The total number of shares issuable under the 2022 Scheme and any
other share schemes of the Company to each eligible participant
within any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue as at the date of grant unless shareholders’ approval
has been obtained. Share options granted to a director, chief executive
or substantial shareholder of the Company or any of their associates
shall be subject to prior approval by the independent non-executive
directors (excluding any independent non-executive director who is also
the grantee of the share options). Share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or a director of the Company or any of their associates,
in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue and with an
aggregate value in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
shall be subject to prior approval by shareholders of the Company.

The vesting period of an option and the period within which the shares
must be taken up under an option shall be determined by the board of
directors and specified in the letter to the grantee, which may be varied
by the board of directors in accordance with the terms of the 2022
Scheme, provided that it shall not under any circumstances exceed
10 years from the date of grant of the relevant option. The board of
directors may, in its discretion, determine the time or period when the
right to exercise the options in respect of all or some of the options to be
vested.

The offer of a grant of share options shall be accepted no later than 28
days from the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of
HKS$1 in total by the grantee.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the board of
directors and must not be less than the highest of:

(a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotation sheet on the date of grant;

(b) the average of the closing price of the shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote
at shareholders’ meetings.

As at the date of this report, the remaining life of the 2022 Scheme is
approximately 7.2 years.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, no share option was granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed and there were no outstanding share
options under the 2022 Scheme as at 31 December 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the total number of shares in respect of which
options had been granted and remained outstanding under the 2013
Scheme was 129,350,000.
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Movements of the outstanding share options granted under the 2013  #&%E — &L 4+ = H =+ —HIE4FEE > RFE-F

Scheme for the year ended 31 December 2024 are as follows: — ZARRHE O AR R RAT Y B IR RE S B
Exercise  Outstanding at Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed  Outstanding at
price per 1 January during during during during 31 December
Grantees Date of grant share 2024 the year the year the year the year 2024 Exercisable period
KBTI RERZIME
B ~A-H FZAZ-R
REN filAH i WA L ERTHE LT ERKM W AT TR
(yyyy/mm/dd) HK$ (yyyy/mm/dd)
(/H/H) 5T (F/A/H)

(i) Executive directors A7 E%

Mr. Chang Chih-Kai 2017/01/25 0.70 6,000,000 - - - - 6,000,000 2017/01/25 - 2027/01/24
REEE (Note 1) (Hf7t—)
2021/12/14 020 17,200,000 - - - - 17,200,000 2022/12/31 - 203112/13

(Note 2) (W =)

Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao 2017/01/25 0.70 3,000,000 - - - - 3000000 2017/01/25 - 2027/01/24
REFEAE (Note 1) (Hf7t—)
2001/12/14 020 17,200,000 - - - - 17,200,000 2022/12/31 - 203112/13

(Note 2) (W =)

Mr. Wang Jungang 2021/12/14 0.20 51,800,000 - - - - 51,800,000 2022/12/31 - 2031/12/13
THRA%E (Note 2) (it =)
Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun 2017/01/25 0.70 750,000 - - - - 750,000 2017/01/25 - 2027/01/24
st (Note 1) (Hf7t—)

201/12/14 0.20 17,200,000 - - - - 17,200,000 2022/1231 - 203112/13

(Note 2) (M=)

(ii) - Employees 5

Tn aggregate 140121 430 100,000 - - - (100.000) 0160121 - 202400120

e (Note 3) (7t =)

In aggregate (Note 4) 201701125 0.70 1,500,000 - - - - 1,500,000 2017/01/25 - 2027/01/24

ARt #A) (Note 1) ({7t —)

In aggregate 2021712114 0.20 14,700,000 - - - - 14,700,000 2022/12/31-2031/12/13

At (Note 2) (3£ =)
129,450,000 - - - (100,000) 129,350,000
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Notes:
1. The share options shall vest one-third each year from the date of grant.

2. First 40% of the share options shall vest on 31 December 2022. The remaining
30% and 30% shall vest on 31 December 2023 and 2024 respectively, subject
to fulfillment and satisfaction of the Group’s targets for the years ending 31
December 2022, 2023 and 2024 respectively as determined by the board of
directors.

3. 100% of the share options shall vest after two years from the date of grant.

4. 750,000 out of 1,500,000 share options were granted by the Company to Mr.
Liao Nan-Hsuan, the spouse of Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun.

5. The closing price per share immediately before the date of grant on 21 January
2014 was HK$4.43.

6. The closing price per share immediately before the date of grant on 25 January
2017 was HK$0.69.
7. The closing price per share immediately before the date of grant on 14

December 2021 was HK$0.154.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year under review was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate
and none of the directors or their spouses or children under the age of
18 had any right to subscribe for the securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such right during the year.

Apart from the share option schemes of the Company as disclosed
above, at no time during the year under review was the Company, its
subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

The Group did not have any material acquisition or disposal of
subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures for the year ended 31
December 2024.

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.
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The aggregate revenue attributable to the Group’s largest and five
largest customers accounted for approximately 30% and 81%,
respectively, of the Group’s total revenue during the year.

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s largest and
five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 4% and 15%,
respectively, of the Group’s total purchases during the year.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholders of the
Company, which to the knowledge of the directors owns 5% or more of
the Company’s share capital, had an interest in the Group’s five largest
customers and five largest suppliers.

The Group maintains good relationships with its employees and
certain policies have been implemented to ensure that its employees
are provided with competitive remuneration, good welfare benefits
and continuous professional training. The Group also maintains good
relationships with its customers, suppliers and subcontractors, without
whom the success in the Group’s operation would be at risk.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, save as disclosed in this
report, there were no material disputes between the Group and its
customers, suppliers, subcontractors and employees.

None of the directors of the Company had any interest in any competing
business with the Company or any of its subsidiaries during the year.

Pursuant to the articles of association, and subject to the applicable
laws and regulations, the directors and officers of the Group shall be
indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from or against
all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or
any of them may incur or sustain in or about the execution of their duty
in their offices. Such permitted indemnity provision has been in force
during the financial year and up to the date of this report. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.
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Based on the information publicly available to the Company and to the
knowledge of the directors of the Company throughout the year ended
31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report, the Company has
maintained sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Company’s
total issued shares as required by the Listing Rules.

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment.

Saved as disclosed in this report, the directors of the Company are not
aware of any significant event which had material effect on the Group
subsequent to 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

On behalf of the board of directors

Chang Chih-Kai
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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To the Shareholders of Daphne International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

The consolidated financial statements of Daphne International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are
set out on pages 62 to 132, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;

. the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment
assessment of investment properties.

Impairment assessment of investment properties

Refer to Notes 2.2.6, 2.2.7, 4.2 and 14 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group’s investment properties were measured at cost and
subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment. During the year ended 31 December 2024, the
Group recognised impairment losses of RMB12,789,000 (2023:
RMB6,065,000) for investment properties. An external valuer was
engaged and involved in the impairment assessments to determine
the recoverable amounts of those investment properties using market
approach. The valuations are dependent on certain assumptions
that require significant management judgement, including expected
unit market price. We focused on this area due to the significance
of the impairment amount and significant management judgement
and estimates involved in determining recoverable amounts of those
investment properties.

How Our Audit Addressed the Key Audit Matters

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of investment
properties included:

. Understanding and evaluating relevant management’s controls
and processes relating to impairment assessment of investment
properties and assessing the inherent risk of material misstatement
by considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and the
judgement involved in estimation of recoverable amounts of those
investment properties;

. Evaluating the valuer’s competence, capabilities, independence
and objectivity;

. Reviewing the valuation report to assess the appropriateness of
methodology used;

. Comparing the assumptions disclosed in the valuation report to an
estimated range with reference to publicly available information;

. Involving our internal valuation expert to assess the valuation
methodology and the key assumptions used in the determination of
recoverable amounts of the investment properties.

Based upon the above, we found that the key assumptions used by

management in the impairment assessment of investment properties to
be supportable by available evidence.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the
audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
¥ 7 A% T e

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
3 7 A% B e

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion
on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed
for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Ms. Xu Yi Jing Vivian.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT

ok o WL AR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # & & ZPU4E+ — H =+—H [H4E &

2024 2023
ZE Y —Ez =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
R 51 AR T 55 N BT 0
Revenue WA 5 322,297 262,644
Cost of sales 5 A (159,696) (131,259)
Gross profit EA 162,601 131,385
Other income HoA e A 6 51,060 59,631
Other gains/(losses) — net HAbk 25, (k5 48) — 1 54 7 960 (12,430)
Selling and distribution expenses BB s B X (51,922) (46,704)
General and administrative expenses — ¥ S AT BB S (66,996) (62,254)
Reversal of impairment loss/(impairment loss) 4 fill & /= i (B s 1848 [n]
on financial assets (3ol A 15 180 892 (1,991)
Operating profit BB A 8 96,595 67,637
Finance costs TS WA 9 (360) (4,255)
Share of profit of associates and JREAG B8 A W T AR
a joint venture ZHH 17,18 93 58
Profit before income tax % T 45 Fod T 1 96,328 63,440
Income tax credit/(expense) FE S BiAE S, (B 52) 10 9,742 (568)
Profit for the year AF N 8 106,070 62,872
Attributable to: LIUF 7 77 HE
Shareholders of the Company AN A R 106,597 62,435
Non-controlling interests I P iV AR (527) 437
106,070 62,872
Earnings per share i &2 11
— Basic (RMB) - BEAANRYTL) 0.054 0.034
— Diluted (RMB) - AR ¥ 0.054 0.034

The above consolidated income statement should be read in conjunction

with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
A I AR R

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # % — & W4+ A =+—H [ }F

2024 2023
e- Sy 11/ o TEEF
RMB’000 RMB’000

N BT o0 AR T

Profit for the year eeara gyl 106,070 62,872
Other comprehensive income At 4 1 AR

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss: A E R 8w B9 H -

Exchange differences on translation of foreign T S A1 SE TS 1 R A T
.. operations AW Li66 682

Total comprehensive income for the year AR TA) A T U 6 A RE 107,236 63,554
Attributable to: PR & TN, -

Shareholders of the Company BN/l 107,763 62,210

Non-controlling interests I 72 1 1 A (527) 1,344

107,236 63,554

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be DA | %7 & 4 T Wi 4 2% 18 BRLAH B B 5 — OF B -
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
maBEEARE

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 A — & U4+ —H =+—H

2024 2023
R YL —x =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Bt 51 AR T o0 N R T8

Non-current assets Ik U By A
Investment properties &Y 14 365,832 394,464
Property, plant and equipment L/ ER & ] 15 4,209 2,734
Right-of-use assets i HE & e 16 6,539 4,348
Interests in associates R s\ 2 B A 17 1,192 1,099
Interest in a joint venture NGB 18 = -
Deferred income tax assets % 4IE T A5 B JH 26 15,115 -
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, Bl 402645
Current assets W& E
Inventories & 19 4,388 5,058
Trade receivables 2 oy E WU 3K 20 7,235 3,271
Deposits, prepayments and e~ TEATFOE K
other receivables At R o R R 21 20,015 17,916
Other financial assets HoAth 45 il & 22 30,477 21,312
Cash and cash equivalents e LB a%EEY 23 476,170 366,273
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, G 413830
Current liabilities i B A E
Trade payables B 5 A IR K 24 36,891 37,153
Accrued charges and other payables JRE it P % At 8 ASF iR 3K 25 38,212 35,809
Contract liabilities bR A 54,081 34,201
Lease liabilities AR 16 3,126 5,834
Current income tax liabilities R 30 T 45 o 1 £ 24,624 23,605
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, e 130602
Non-current liabilities Ik Ui By £ fH
Lease liabilities HEAE 16 3,854 3,451
Deferred income tax liabilities % JE T 45 B I A 26 8,141 4,117
e RN 7,568
Netcurrentassets ~ wBwESE 00000000000 /1351 277,228
Net assets 8 E 762,243 672,305
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
MR EARE

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 i — & U4+~ H =+—H

2024 2023
-y 11! i 2 —E =
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Bt 51 PN R N R T8

Equity attributable to shareholders JB S 4% HE #5
Share capital AR 27 175,202 175,202
Reserves fiti i 28 583,347 492,882
758,549 668,084
Non-controlling interests I 42 ) P HE A 3,694 4,221
Total equity HERE 25 762,243 672,305

The consolidated financial statements on pages 62 to 132 were approved ~ SB62FE 132 H Z 45 G M B MR CEFEFFR —_F 1
by the board of directors on 26 March 2025 and were signed on its F=H T/ NH#MELRRELEFFHE -
behalf.

CHANG CHIH-KAI CHANG CHIH-CHIAO
R REE
Director Director
#HFE HH

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction DA [ 454 &7 £ i 55 108 BUAR B 5% — OF BE 3 -
with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # % — & W4+ A =+—H [ F

Attributable to shareholders

i 5 A Non—
Share controlling
capital Reserves interests Total
E3esilid
Bt A ik HE 45 At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®TL AR¥®TLT AR¥®TT AR¥TE
_AtlJamoary2003 ] [ et A A A 160663 . 369,201 . 87633 ! 617,593
Profit for the year A 1Ry 28 A - 62,435 437 62,872
Other comprehensive income/(loss) HAib 2 s/ tEa) - (225) 907 682
Total comprehensive income AT 45 - 62,210 1,344 63,554
Conversion of convertible notes 40 T 4 £ 14,539 17,592 - 32,131
Changes in ownership interest in a subsidiary 7 Bff I 2 71 9 i 47 HEHE 45 52
without change of control T AR B A P ) - 42,256 (84,756) (42,500)
Share option scheme: HER R B -
— Value of grantee services — R ARFEE - 1,527 - 1,527
Total transactions with sharcholders — WEoiZh&®E 14539 ¢ 61315 . (®4756) (8.842)
At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 RZFEZ=ZFF A=+ —H R
o SEmEeAeR bes dhen vl Wl
Profit/(loss) for the year FRER/ (ER) = 106,597 (527) 106,070
Other comprehensive income oA A T i 5 = 1,166 = 1,166
Total comprehensive income/(loss) g/ (1) A5 = 107,763 (527) 107,236
Dividend provided for or paid ERHE e A - (17,934) - (17,934)
Share option scheme: HER R B -
— Value of grantee services — R ARHEE - 636 - 636
Totalwansactions with sharcholders  WBHZHEE - Wy - 118
At 31 December 2024 REFZWEFZA=F—H 175,202 583,347 3,694 762,243

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

GOoBeRaR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 # & & ZPU4E+ — H =+—H [H4E &

2024 2023
ZE Y e~ —
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
R 51 AR T 55 N BT 0
Operating activities BB
Cash generated from operations EEEA B A& 30(1) 135,410 116,224
Income tax paid SENPIEEY (330) (332)
_Netcash inflow from operating activities  MEWBMBERAFEHE 135080 115892
Investing activities BEWHH
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment WY MR Rk (2,491) (2,475)
Proceeds from disposal of property, MEWZE - BB B
plant and equipment Z K 30(ii) 5 158
Proceeds from disposal of investment L EREYE
properties Z K 30(ii) - 1,780
Investment in other financial assets HCAth 4 Al AR A (20,000) (31,804)
Proceeds from redemption of other financial 5 [2] EAth 4 Fil & 72
assets Z WK 11,146 42,319
Bank interest received £ i SR AT AL, 8,830 7,840
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing BEEHHES R,/
(o aetivities WATE G 17818
Financing activities & T B
Dividend paid to shareholders of the B A A28 /] R
Company Z B (17,930) -
Principal element of lease payments AEA R RS (5,570) (4,814)
Interest element of lease payments GENER D DN (360) (431)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests At 1 I 422 i) 1 A s - (42,500)
_Netcash outflow from financing activities =~ MUWBMBREmMa®E 23860) (47.745)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 3 4 K& 3 & 2 (&8 % 3% I 5 48 108,710 85,965
Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January R—H—HZ 88 RS EY 366,273 279,639
Effect of exchange rate changes TE 2% 5 ) 2 %% 1,187 669
Cash and cash equivalents as at R HA=+—H2Z28HE X
31 December I % HY) 476,170 366,273
The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in DL 454 4 Ui & 75 E BORF B O &% — 0 B8 o -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Daphne International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged
in licensing, distribution and sale of footwear products and
accessories in Mainland China.

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. The address of its registered office is Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1—
1111, Cayman Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
(“RMB”), unless otherwise stated.

This note provides a list of the accounting policies adopted in the
preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collectively includes all
applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and
the requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss which is measured at
fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to
exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial
statements, are disclosed in Note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 13 B 285 R B

The Group has applied the following amended standards

and interpretations for the first time for their annual

reporting period commencing 1 January 2024:

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Revised Hong Kong
Interpretation 5

Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and Non-current Liabilities
with Covenants

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand
Clause

The adoption of the above amended standards and

interpretations did not have any material impact on the

Group’s accounting policies.
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Certain new and amended standards and interpretations
have been published that are not yet effective for annual
period ended 31 December 2024 and have not been

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i o i

A ) NI A LB A L AR (ELR A
R ONEF A=+ —HIFEED
8] W0 o 2B R0 2 25 s e A1) S B R

early adopted by the Group. FEZAETHT o
Amendments to HKAS ~ Lack of Exchangeability' g R ERSE sz Al
21 and HKFRS 1 2158 Je A W W
B i E R A 1
8 AERT
Amendments to HKFRS ~ Amendments to the s oy ¥ &R LR BRE
7 and HKFRS 9 Classification and HISE79E R BRE?
Measurement of Financial 1o 5 i % e A
Instruments> Fout 2 EHT
Amendments to HKFRS  Annual Improvements T W I 5 i MR A o T S YR )
to HKFRS Accounting Az &5 & R R AR
Standards — Volume 112 HE— 11
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure FWs I o MBI RE B2
in Financial Statements? R 51898 B P 7
Amendments to Hong Presentation of TR BB WHWEN 2 -
Kong Interpretation 5 Financial Statements ZAEFT RN RS
— Classification by the SRR FAR R
Borrower of a Term TE R e
Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand
Clause?
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without A S i e R A L RE AT T
Public Accountability: %5 1998 & BER
Disclosures?
Amendments to HKFRS  Sale or Contribution T v P 4k e R B S
10 and HKAS 28 of Assets between an HIZB109E K& A AESEZ
Investor and its Associate wEEHUE RS R E B ek
or Joint Venture* 285% 2 1B HT FE

RS E A A H g2 A A
2R R TNE— ] — H B G2 R R A 5%
PR ZE LA — H G AR
W LCES &t o e

! Effective for reporting period beginning on 1 January 2025
2 Effective for reporting period beginning on 1 January 2026
3 Effective for reporting period beginning on 1 January 2027
? Effective for reporting period beginning on or after a date to be

determined
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The Group plans to adopt the above new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations when
they become effective. Further information about those
HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the Group
is described below.

HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, including specified totals
and subtotals. Furthermore, entities are required to
classify all income and expenses within the statement
of profit or loss into one of five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued
operations, whereof the first three are new. It also
requires disclosure of newly defined management-
defined performance measures, subtotals of income
and expenses, and includes new requirements for
aggregation and disaggregation of financial information
based on the identified “roles” of the primary financial
statements and the notes. In addition, narrow-scope
amendments have been made to HKAS 7 Statement of
Cash Flows, which include changing the starting point
for determining cash flows from operations under the
indirect method, from “profit or loss” to “operating
profit or loss” and removing the optionality around
classification of cash flows from dividends and interest.
There are also consequential amendments to several
other standards. HKFRS 18 is effective for reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, but earlier
application is permitted and must be disclosed. HKFRS
18 will apply retrospectively. The new requirements
are expected to impact the Group’s presentation of the
statement of profit or loss and disclosures of the Group’s
financial performance. So far, the Group considers
that the adoption of HKFRS 18 is unlikely to have a
significant impact on the Group’s results of operations
and financial position.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of the other new standards, amendments to
standards and interpretations upon initial application. So
far, the Group considers that these other new standards,
amendments to standards and interpretations may result
in changes in accounting policies but are unlikely to
have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial performance and financial position.

The consolidated financial statements including the
financial statements of the Company and all of its
subsidiaries are made up to 31 December.

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity.

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and
unrealised gains on transactions between group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provided
evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.
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The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to former
shareholders of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group. The consideration
transferred includes the fair value of any asset or
liability resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in
a business combination are measured initially at
their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their fair values at acquisition date,
unless another measurement basis is required by
HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs are expensed
as incurred.

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred
and the fair value of non-controlling interest over
the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If this consideration is lower than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired,
the difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that
do not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with
the shareholders in their capacity as shareholders
of the subsidiary. The difference between fair
value of any consideration paid and the relevant
share acquired of the carrying value of net assets of
the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses
on disposals to non-controlling interests are also
recorded in equity.
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When the Group ceases to have control, any
retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value at the date when control is lost, with the
change in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount
for the purposes of subsequent accounting for the
retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amount previously
recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity is accounted for as if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss.

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20%
and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in
associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method,
the investment is initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased
to recognise the investor’s share of the profit or
loss of the investee after the date of acquisition.
The Group’s investment in associates includes
goodwill identified on acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced
but significant influence is retained, only a
proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or
loss is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in other comprehensive income with a
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount
of the investment. When the Group’s share of
loss in an associate equals or exceeds its interest
in the associate, including any other unsecured
receivables, the Group does not recognise further
loss, unless it has incurred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate.
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The Group assesses at each balance sheet date
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable that the investments in the associates
and joint arrangements are impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate or joint
arrangement and its carrying value and recognises
the amount adjacent to “share of profit of
associates and a joint venture” in the consolidated
income statement.

Profit or loss resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent
of unrelated investor’s interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
associates have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Gains or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Under HKFRS 11,
arrangements are classified as either joint

investments in joint

operations or joint ventures depending on the
contractual rights and obligations of each investor.
The Group has assessed the nature of its joint
arrangements and determined them to be joint
ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the
equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When
the Group’s share of loss in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interest in the joint venture (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
venture), the Group does not recognise further
loss, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint venture.
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Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interests in the joint ventures.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the
joint ventures have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investments. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving dividends from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-
maker who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments,
has been identified as the executive directors of the
Company that make strategic decisions.

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”’). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in RMB, which is the Company’s
functional currency.
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Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where
items are remeasured. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end
exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are generally
recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.

The results and financial position of all the
Group’s entities (none of which has the currency
of a hyperinflationary economy) that have a
functional currency different from the presentation
currency are translated into the presentation
currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

. income and expenses for each income
statement and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction
dates, in which case income and expenses
are translated at the rate on the dates of the
transactions); and

. all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Currency translation differences arising
from foreign operations may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss; while currency
translation differences arising from non-foreign
operations are not reclassified subsequently to
profit or loss.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate. Currency translation differences
arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control
over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation,
a disposal involving loss of joint control over a
joint venture that includes a foreign operation,
or a disposal involving loss of significant
influence over an associate that includes a
foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are re-attributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions
in the Group’s ownership interest in associates
or joint ventures that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the
proportionate share of the accumulated exchange
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repair and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their costs to their residual values, where appropriate,
over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvements Over the lease terms or
5 years, whichever is shorter
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each balance
sheet date.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note
2.2.7).

Gains or losses on disposals of property, plant and
equipment are the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
assets and are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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Investment properties, comprising land and buildings,
are held for long-term rental yields or for capital
appreciation or both, and that are not occupied by the
Group.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost,
including related transaction costs. After initial
recognition, the investment properties are stated at
historical costs less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the assets. Subsequent
expenditure is charged to the carrying amount of the
asset only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the property will flow to the
Group and the cost of the property can be measured
reliably. All other repair and maintenance costs are
expensed in the consolidated income statement during
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line
method to write off the cost over the estimated useful
lives to their estimated residual values. Estimated useful
lives of land and buildings are generally from 20 to 50
years.

The residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date. The
carrying amounts of investment properties are reviewed
regularly. An investment property’s carrying amount is
written down immediately to its recoverable amount if
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount (Note 2.2.7).

Gains or losses on disposals are determined as the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amounts of the relevant investment properties
and are recognised in the consolidated income
statement.
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Non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest level for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating
units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that
suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at each balance sheet date.

Finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is calculated on the weighted
average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less
applicable variable selling expenses.

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially
at the amount of consideration that is unconditional
unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group
holds the trade and other receivables with the objective
to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. See Note 3.1(iii) for further
information about the Group’s accounting for trade
and other receivables for a description of the Group’s
impairment policies.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and
deposits held at call with banks with original maturities
of three months or less.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 BV 285 R B

Income tax for the year comprises current and deferred
tax. Income tax is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the income tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

Current income tax charge is calculated on the
basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date in the places
where the Group operates and generates taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions
where appropriate on the basis of amounts
expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred income
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from
the initial recognition of goodwill, the deferred
income tax is not accounted for if it arises from
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction other than a business combination
that at the time of the transaction affects neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted
at the balance sheet date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised
only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between
the carrying amount and tax base of investments
in foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and
when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax
authority on either the taxable entity or different
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle
the balances on a net basis.

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses with reference to a number of factors
including the Group’s operating results, individual
and market performance and directors’ discretion.
The Group recognises a provision where
contractually obliged or where there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

The Group participates in various defined
contribution retirement schemes which are
established by governments or separately
administered funds. A defined contribution plan is
a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions to separately administered funds on
a mandatory, contractual or voluntary basis. The
Group has no legal or constructive obligations
to pay further contributions if the fund does not
hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the
benefits relating to employee service in the current
and prior periods. The Group’s contributions are
recognised as employee benefits expense when
they are due and are reduced by contributions
forfeited by those employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in the contributions.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
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The Group operates an equity-settled share-based
compensation plan under which the Group receives
services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments (options) of the Group. The
fair value of the employee services received in
exchange for the grant of the options is recognised
as an expense. The total amount to be expensed
over the vesting period is determined by reference
to the fair value of the options granted, including
any market performance conditions and excluding
the impacts of any non-market service and
performance vesting conditions (for example,
profitability, sales growth targets and retaining
employees over a specified period) as well as
any non-vesting conditions (for example, the
requirement for employees to save). Non-market
vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to
vest. The total amount expensed is recognised
over the vesting period, which is the period over
which all of the specified vesting conditions
are to be satisfied. At each balance sheet date,
the Group revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to vest based on non-
marketing vesting conditions. It recognises the
impact of the revision of original estimates, if
any, in the consolidated income statement with a
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share
capital (at nominal value) and share premium when
the options are exercised.

If an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation,
and any expense not yet recognised for the award
is recognised immediately. However, if a new
award is substituted for the cancelled award, and
designated as a replacement award on the date
that it is granted, the cancelled and new award
are treated as if they were a modification of the
original award.
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If an equity award is cancelled by forfeiture,
when the vesting conditions (other than market
conditions) have not been met, any expense
not yet recognised for that award, as at the date
of forfeiture, is treated as if it had never been
recognised. At the same time, any expense
previously recognised on such cancelled equity
awards is reversed from the accounts effective as at
the date of forfeiture.

The dilutive effect, if any, of outstanding options
is reflected as additional share dilution in the
computation of earnings per share.

Termination benefits are payable when
employment is terminated by the Group before the
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee
accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for
these benefits. The Group recognises termination
benefits at the earlier of the following dates:
(a) when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits; and (b) when the Group
recognises costs for a restructuring that is within
the scope of HKAS 37 and involves the payment
of termination benefits. In the case of an offer
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the
termination benefits are measured based on the
number of employees expected to accept the offer.
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after the
balance sheet date are discounted to their present
value.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are
recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for
annual leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.
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The Group classifies its other financial assets in
the following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair
value through profit or loss; and

o those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the other financial assets and
the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains or losses
will be recorded in profit or loss. The Group
reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets
changes.

Regular way purchases and sales of other financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Other financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the
other financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.
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At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL”), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.
Transaction costs of financial assets carried at
FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement depends on the Group’s
business model for managing the asset and the
cash flow characteristics of the assets. There are
two categories which the Group classifies its other
financial assets:

. Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in “other income”
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in “other gains/(losses) — net”,
together with foreign exchange gains or
losses.

. FVPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria
for amortised cost are measured at FVPL. A
gain or loss that is subsequently measured
at FVPL is recognised in profit or loss and
presented net within “other gains/(losses) —
net” in the period in which it arises.

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its financial
assets carried at amortised cost and FVPL. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade and other receivables, the Group applies
the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS
9, which requires lifetime expected credit loss
to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables, see Note 3.1(iii) for further details.
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Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental
costs, net of tax, directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction
from the proceeds.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method.

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and
corresponding liabilities at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease
components. The Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to the lease and non-lease components
based on their relative stand-alone prices. However,
for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee,
it has elected not to separate lease and non-lease
components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.

Assets and liabilities arising from leases are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.
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The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have
to pay to borrow the fund necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the
Group uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party
financing was received.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss
over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability
for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received;

. any initial direct costs; and
. restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with leases of low-value assets
are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in
profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets comprise
office equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 BV 285 R B

Rental income from operating leases where the Group
is a lessor is recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
underlying asset and recognised as expense over the
lease term on the same basis as rental income.

Dividend distribution to shareholders of the Company
is recognised as a liability in the Company’s and the
Group’s financial statements in the period in which the
dividends are approved by the board of directors and the
shareholders of the Company, where appropriate.

Licensing fee income represents revenues
from franchisees. Revenue is recognised when
control of the Group’s authenticated products is
transferred to franchisees, being when the products
are delivered to the franchisees. Revenue is
presented net of credits granted to franchisees. No
element of financing is deemed present.

Rebates are awarded to franchisees based on
volume of products purchased. It is recognised as
a deduction of revenue and the receipts in respect
of which are deferred and recognised as contract
liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

Sales are recognised when control of the products
has transferred, being when the products are
delivered to customers, and there is no unfulfilled
obligation that could affect the customer
acceptance of the products.

The goods are often sold with sales discounts.
Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the
price specified in the contract, net of the discounts.
No element of financing is deemed present.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays non-refundable consideration before the
Group recognises the related revenue. A contract
liability would also be recognised if the Group has
a performance obligation when the customer is
entitled to rebates which will be settled by goods
only.
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Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis
using the effective interest method.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the balance sheet when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amount and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the
counterparty.

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of past
events and it is probable that an outflow of economic
resources will be required to settle the obligation; and
the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow of economic resources will
be required in settlement is determined by considering
the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with
respect to any one item included in the same class of
obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligations using a pre-tax that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i o i

Government subsidies are recognised at their fair value R Al R A A A HI R % e 2 5% A R
where there is reasonable assurance that the incentives S HL A B e 1R 2 S s 2 A LT
will be received and all attaching conditions will be LA PE AR -

complied with.

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing g JE L AR o R 5 B T e AR A D I
the profit attributable to shareholders of the SROBEAG B F o R DAAS W B A O
Company by the weighted average number of FEAT 28 B 0 I REST- 3 B
ordinary shares outstanding during the financial

year.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used g R 40 2 R 5 B A A
in the determination of basic earnings per share to TE T B AR J R 0 O > B

take into account:

. the after income tax effect of interest and . L 1 VR A 2 Tl A B
other financing costs associated with dilutive W i 75 2 2 4% 1 )LJE A
potential ordinary shares, and b A 5 B

. the weighted average number of additional . Bk i A B 0 T A
ordinary shares that would have been A I X O A - R AT
outstanding assuming the conversion of all ) R A1 5 28 B 0 HE 7
dilutive potential ordinary shares. # o
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The Group’s business activities expose it to a variety of
financial risks: foreign exchange risk, cash flow interest rate
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effect on
the Group’s financial performance. The use of financial
derivatives to manage certain risk exposures should be
approved by the board of directors.

Foreign exchange risk arises from commercial
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the Group’s entities to which they operate.
The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange risk
with respect to Hong Kong Dollars and United States
Dollars.

The Group manages its foreign exchange risk by
performing regular review of the Group’s net foreign
exchange exposures and the Group may use forward
foreign exchange contracts when significant fluctuation
in the relevant foreign currency is anticipated.

As at 31 December 2024, if HK$ had strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB with all other variables
held constant, profit before income tax for the year
would have increased/decreased by approximately
RMB221,000 (2023: RMB339,000) as a result of the
translation of cash and cash equivalents, receivables and
payables denominated in HKS.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly arising from its cash at bank which bears interest
at floating rates. As at 31 December 2024, if interest
rates on cash at bank had been 50 basis points higher/
lower with all other variables held constant, profit
before income tax for the year would have increased/
decreased RMB2,381,000 (2023: RMB1,831,000),
mainly as a result of higher/lower bank interest income.

b

: e

A G P S 55 1 ) T [5f 22 TEC B RS el B - A BE
ELF/@ N ﬁi/ﬂh%ﬂzﬂ% {i—ﬁiﬂ@&bm
B B R B o A B2 ) R R A B B
<5 T 8 2 B DAL o Sl SR R A
45 1B B 3R B WL 2 VB TE SRS 2 o i
& AT AR TR B T A B o it
1 o

A B JEL B A 1 2658 5 T LA SR B
e 2 R R LA 2 B RHEZ
O 8 B I B o A ) E 2
Sk T N 5% T A B 9 A B Ja e o

AR [ 025 34 ) A B A A 2 A B J
B AR > B LA AR B SR JE g o A
A L A U A B S/ R ) R R W O 38 ey
BB 8 2 ) AP BE 5 4 o

RoEZNEFF A=+ — 0 Ak
I 5 N R THE, W AES5% > TE BT A
o Ath ] 8 B R R AR ANEE N o MR
BT EZ B MBS EY - E
WA R TR A MR 3K A A B BT 45 B T
B Rt s n, b & N R #221,00000
(mF =4 NR¥339,00000) -

$%@%ﬁ%2ﬁi%§ﬂ$ﬂ@£
E%Ef&ﬁﬂzﬁu HEBSRITE

SECNE+ZH =+ H’
Eﬁ 17 30 F R E R #5010 5
2 TE A Hoth B B R AR A
R 4E X1 Bk BT 45 B w22 0 5t 184 hn 3

NE#2,381,0000C (= F =4 AR
#1,831,00070) - 5 B A R AT A
Bk A LT R RERTEL
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The carrying amounts of trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables and bank deposits stated in the
consolidated balance sheet represent the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to its
financial assets. Licensing fee income received from
franchisees are collected in advance of transfers of
goods.

The majority of the Group’s trade receivables arises
from credit sales to trading customers. The Group has
policies in place to evaluate and monitor the credit
terms and payment history of its customers to ensure
recoverability of trade debts. The Group also reviews
the balance of trade receivables at each balance sheet
date to ensure that adequate provision for uncollectible
receivables is made.

Rental deposits are mainly placed with various
landlords in Mainland China and Hong Kong and are
due to refund upon the expiry of the tenancy agreements
and handover of the leased premises. The Group
considered that the expected credit loss was minimal.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, substantially all the
Group’s financial assets and cash and cash equivalents
are placed with registered financial institutions
located in Mainland China and Hong Kong which are
of acceptable credit quality based on management’s
assessment. The Group has a policy to limit the credit
exposure to any financial institution and management
does not expect any significant loss arising from non-
performance of these counterparties.

The Group has the following types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss model:

. Trade receivables

. Deposits and other receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach prescribed
in HKFRS 9 to measure expected credit losses which

uses a lifetime expected credit loss allowance for trade
receivables.
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To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables
have been grouped based on the ageing and shared credit
risk characteristics. The expected loss rates are based on
the payment profiles of sales over a period of 24 months
before 31 December 2024 and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced within the period.
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current
and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables. On that basis, the lifetime expected credit
loss allowance as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B B 5 i o i

Mt EEE SRR - B 5 BURK
AR 4% B i B 3 [ 15 B Tl B 4 20
Al o TG R AR RN & 4
T =t HET R A s
) ST L DA B 300 TR 4% 1 1) 1 IR 2
EREHEREE - B EHEEEECHE
HE - DU R B S & IR
HCRE 77 10 I S AT B 1 2B [ R
FORL o HRULIEAE > R A T AR
ZoWET A=A Z 2 MEY
RREEBHEEZWT

determined as follows:

1-30 days 31-60 days Over 60 days
Current past due past due past due Total
Lk BIMENE  ENNEOR  EHERA it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NRHET T AREBT T AREF T NREBT T AREF T
At 31 December 2024 REBZWELZAZ N
Gross carrying amount AR 7,35 - - 9401 16,636
Loss allowance BRER - - - (9,401) (9,401)
Expected credit loss rate ElEEERS 0% 0% 0% 100%
At31 December 2023 REFZZEFZAZH-0
Gross carrying amount BIREE 3,080 - - 11,441 14,521
Loss allowance ER - - - (11,250) (11,250)
Expected credit loss rate SRR 0% 0% 0% 98%
Movements in loss allowance on trade receivables are as B o MR S s R B s B -
follows:
2024 2023
ZE YL TRz =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRWT 5 UNEY: o R
At 1 January w—H—H 11,250 11,439
(Decrease)/increase in loss allowance AF R 5 T ERE R
recognised in profit or loss during the year s R B A (D)8 (892) 2,114
Written off during the year GRS S| (957) (2,303)
At 31 December wt—_HA=1+—H 9,401 11,250

BEOOC e BB OB AR A
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Other financial assets at amortised cost mainly include
deposits and other receivables. Management applies the
general approach and records either 12-month expected
credit loss or lifetime expected credit loss, depending on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase
in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, then impairment is measured at its lifetime

expected credit loss.

As at 31 December 2024, there was no loss allowance
for deposits and other receivables recongised in the
consolidated balance sheet (2023: RMB551,000). For
the year ended 31 December 2024, there was no loss
allowance or reversal of loss allowance on deposits and
other receivables charged or credited (2023: reversal
of loss allowance of RMB123,000) to the consolidated
income statement. During the year, loss allowance
of RMB551,000 (2023: RMB3,769,000) was utilised
due to write-off of uncollectable deposits and other

receivables.

While cash and cash equivalents were also subject to the
impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the identified
impairment loss was determined to be immaterial as at

31 December 2024 and 2023.

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining
sufficient cash and the availability of funding through
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

Management monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s
liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient cash to

meet operational needs.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recorded a profit before income tax of approximately
RMB96,328,000. The Group also recorded net cash
inflow from operating activities of RMB135,080,000.
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had cash and cash
equivalents of RMB476,170,000 that are expected to
readily generate cash inflows for managing liquidity

risk.
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The table below analyses the Group’s financial NRAEEREEEH 2 EHFH ZF
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on R 300 435 2 A0 T 2 AR R 2 A SR T
the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the BT o AR Z BT A
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in FRBR B ERE - R T IE+
the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. AZ+—H > f AR5 2800 A &
The undiscounted amounts of trade and other payables K> BEER I T T Fo A I AT HR R R
disclosed are equal to their carrying amounts, as the B 3R 4 A B L AR T (E AR ] o

impact of discounting was not significant as at 31

December 2024.

Between 1 and

Within 1 year S years Total
—4HRN —FEHAE At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARMETIE  ARWTT  ARWTIT

At 31 December 2024 R _ZF_ME+_H=+—H

Trade payables B 5 REAT R 3K 36,891 = 36,891

Accrued charges and JE =t R H At
other payables JREAST B 3K 23,103 = 23,103
Lease liabilities HEAM 3,274 3,940 7,214
63,268 3,940 67,208

At 31 December 2023 RZEZ_=F+H=1+—H

Trade payables & 5 ME AT BR 3K 37,153 - 37,153
Accrued charges and JE St % H At
other payables JREASF B 3K 18,577 - 18,577
Lease liabilities L A AR 6,116 3,539 9,655
61,846 3,539 65,385
The carrying values of trade receivables, deposits and other B Ty MR R~ 4 A R b A R
receivables, other financial assets at amortised cost and cash B AR T ) oM S e E - Bl B
and cash equivalents, trade payables, accrued charges and BEEY - B 5 AR - MER A
other payables and lease liabilities approximate their fair At JE AT R A LA B L A g R T (L B
values. Other financial assets at fair value through profit SEAEARA o DA PEE AR 4 5= 1
or loss are stated at fair value. The fair value of financial b 4 il A DA PAE (B B AR o 4 Rl A A
assets and liabilities for disclosure purpose is estimated by B AN AT EME AR SR &
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current LA A AR T ) A 1 S 0L < A L ) I
market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar T 35 ) 2 T B R A A 4 B 4 O 2 A A T
financial instruments. i o

EERBEBERARAAG | ZDF_NEEH 97
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This section explains the judgements and estimates
made in determining the fair values of the financial
instruments that are recognised and measured at
fair value in the consolidated financial statements.
To provide an indication about the reliability of the
inputs used in determining the fair value, the Group

AH MR T AR E AR
A E MR A EH R &M TR A
- (L Ry i R T B B AN AG R o 2 B
71 1R e RE o oF- 8 (B 2 B R FT SR
P o AR SR B < R T ) 2 R HE T
R ) = AR 5 o 3B A% ] B T R

S5 i A

has classified its financial instruments into three I
levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An
explanation of each level is as follows:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
g e BE)E
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Other financial assets HoAh 4 il A ANR®EFILT AR®ET T AR®TC
At 31 December 2024 BoEZWEFZA=+—H
FVPL N AR B FE A £
— Unlisted financial APV
investments in IE B A E
certificates of deposit (Ktit22)
(Note 22) - 20,477 -
At 31 December 2023 WEE L =FEF A =Z+—H
FVPL i A EFFAE 27
— Unlisted financial — N KB 2
investments in FELHEMKE
certificates of deposit (Hfit22)
(Note 22) - 21,312 -

There were no transfers between level 1, 2 and 3 during

the year.

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (e.g. publicly traded derivatives and
equity securities) is based on quoted market prices at
the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price
used for the financial assets is the current bid price.

Ji& 2 [H] g RS o

These instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (e.g. over—the—counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques
which maximise the use of observable market data and
rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to fair value of the
instruments are observable, the instruments are included

in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instruments are

included in level 3.

BINNG = -
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Specific valuation techniques used to value financial
instruments include:

. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar
instruments; or

. Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow
analysis, are used to determine fair value.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value of
the certificates of deposit classified as level 2 financial
assets as their fair values are determined based on the
use of observable market data.

Details of the fair value of the investment properties are
disclosed in Note 14.

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
as well as maximising returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions.
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, obtain new bank
loans or issue new shares.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had a net cash (2023:
net cash) position, being the balances of cash and cash
equivalents which exceeded the carrying amounts of lease
liabilities of approximately RMB469,190,000 (2023:
RMB356,988,000).

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal to the related actual result. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year are discussed below.

<3

JH A P Al < b T A (R A9 BB A (45
lr 245

o FIAR T H T IGERESR S
P AE Bk

o BUE T 20 AT 45 H At Al AR
i e P
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14 »
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AR R B L R R o Sl AR R DA
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The Group is subject to income taxes in different
jurisdictions. Judgement is required in determining the
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations during the ordinary course of business for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Where the final
tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
current and deferred income tax provisions in the period in
which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax assets relating to temporary differences
and tax losses are recognised when management considers
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against the temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
Deferred income tax liabilities on temporary differences
relating to undistributed profits of the Group’s subsidiaries
in Mainland China are recognised to the extent that profits
are expected to be distributed as the Company controls and
pre-determines the dividend policy of these subsidiaries.
Management reassesses its expectation at each balance sheet
date.

At each reporting date or whenever a change in circumstances
occurs, both internal and external sources of information are
considered to assess whether there is an indication that assets
are impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. If the carrying amount of an
asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is
recognised to reduce the asset to its recoverable amount.

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected credit
loss rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period. See Note 3.1(iii) for details.
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Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs of completion and selling expenses. These estimates
are based on current market conditions and the historical
experience of selling products of similar nature. It could
change significantly as a result of changes in customer
taste and competitor actions in response to industry cycles.
Management reassesses the estimation at each reporting
period.

The Group is principally engaged in licensing, distribution and sale
of footwear products and accessories in Mainland China.

Chief operating decision-maker has been identified as the
executive directors of the Company. Information reported to the
executive directors of the Company, for the purposes of resources
allocation and assessment of performance, focused specifically on
the revenue and the profit or loss of the Group as a whole. Hence,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group has only one
reportable segment.

The Group’s revenue is derived from customers located in
Mainland China and most of the non-current assets of the Group
are located in Mainland China. Accordingly, no geographical
information is presented.
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ARFPITEFCRE S EEEERRE - it
R P M 2 BT A 1) AR 2% R BT S
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P

AR A e AR A AR P BB E S
LA S TR ¥ 473 I O ) 4 6 A o R B
(R G 2R 2 91 4t I Y

2024 2023

et Sy 1! TR =4

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANRWF 5T NR¥ET 0

Licensing fee income AR RE R A 127,045 103,623
Sales of goods BiE 195,252 159,021
322,297 262,644
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The five largest customers accounted for approximately 81%
(2023: 84%) of the revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2024. Revenue individually generated from the

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i o i

HEZ WES A=+ —HIEFEE > HK
KL ALE & 2B AKI81% (& =4
84%) © & B LA % 7 AL A1 A 45 F ko A

following customers contributed more than 10% of the total AREEEEZERABEZ10% :
revenue of the Group:
2024 2023
TR Y -
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR ¥ET ot YN ST
Customer A HEFEA 96,248 91,863
Customer B %FB 52,745 48,932
Customer C %FC 48,838 33,847
Customer D %D 35,287 N/AAS
G The revenue from the customer was less than 10% of the total revenue of * KA FZE T AL A i 2 AR
the Group. 10%

Contract liabilities pertain to the non-refundable advance payment
made by customers and rebates yet to be claimed by franchisees
which will be settled by goods only. Increase in contract liabilities
as at 31 December 2024 was mainly due to business growth. The
Group recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with
customers as at 31 December 2024:

o H BB F SRS Y AN AR 2 AT ORI
R B A LA A R A B o R %
TEF A= H s SRAEREN N EE
R E R o R F IET =
H o> ASEEC AR AT B 5 A A A B 9 R

2024 2023
e g 11 K20 SR
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T o6 UNERY S R
Contract liabilities HHAlE 54,081 34,201

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the revenue recognised that
was included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of
the year was RMB34,201,000 (2023: RMB31,151,000).
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2024 2023

R Y4 -
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRWT 55 NR¥F 0
Gross rental income (Note 14) FH B U A KB (B 7E14) 39,855 46,025
Interest income F B WA 8,830 7,840
Government subsidies (Note) R A B (K AE) 1,033 326
Others oAt 1,342 5,440
51,060 59,631

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2024, government subsidies mainly Bfat - #E FE AES ZH = A — HIEFEE - BT

represented financial aids provided to the subsidiaries of the Company
by the local government in Mainland China. There were no unfulfilled
conditions or other contingencies attaching to these subsidies.

TG T2 BT 1 K T BT 1 AR 4 ] R
2 T BN B BRGAG o 72 75 A A A K
J 2 MR 2 Al 2 58 S -

2024 2023
e~y 11/ e S
RMB’000 RMB’000
N R T o0 N R T 5T
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value A PEER AR 2 &Rl E
through profit and loss (Note 22) FE (A SPAB (E UR %2 (B 7#22) 311 1,140
Gain on termination of leases 2R E I R 3,001 -
Impairment loss of investment properties BB Y 2 2 WAH RS 15
(Note 14) (M7t 14) (12,789) (6,065)
(Loss)/gain on disposal of property, plant and HEYE -~ R K 2
equipment (48) i %2 (68) 157
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREWEZ EE = (7,192)
Net exchange gain/(loss) W S it (R 18) ¥ 4 505 (470)
Reversal of impairment loss on value-added tax AT [ 3 (B B I (R 1R
recoverable (Note 21) W (ffiE21) 10,000 -
960 (12,430)

BEOOC e BB OB AR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 T 5 R B R

Operating profit is stated after charging the following: KERACFA TS IE
2024 2023
e- Sy 11/ o e
RMB’000 RMB’000
NN T N R T T
Auditors’ remuneration 2% St P 4 2,097 1,957
Cost of inventories sold, including provision for OB B AR (51 B A
inventories of RMB3,775,000 N H3,775,0000C (—F
(2023: RMB840,000) AR ARH840,0000T) ) 159,696 131,259
Depreciation of investment properties G LI 15,843 17,128
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment W~ WE BT 943 1,083
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i R P 4,804 4,625
Employee benefits expense (Note 13) & B A% A B 3 (M FE13) 46,455 42,815
Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment ¥ 2£ ~ W55 B 5% i b8 (15 18
(Note 15) (Wtat15) - 675
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets (Note 16) i R RE & WR(E R (M aE16) - 4,779
Marketing and promotion expense T 35 S R B 5 18,063 14,766
2024 2023
e Sy 11/ TR
RMB’000 RMB’000
N T NRHT T
Interest on convertible notes a6 A 2 RIS - 3,824
Interest on lease liabilities L& & R 360 431
360 4,255
2024 2023
e Sy 11/ TR AR
RMB’000 RMB’000
N T ANRHT T
Current income tax — Mainland China BV 1A T 5 50 TE — o B K e (1,349) (332)
Deferred income tax (Note 26) R 4E T A5 BLIE (f #26) 11,091 (236)
9,742 (568)
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The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs
from the theoretical amount that would arise using the tax rate of
25% as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B B 5 i o i

AR 1 R T 153 0 i 2 M) 2 BT AR B AS [ A 18 1 25%
f B A B A i LG AT

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

A R oo PNENY i

Profit before income tax I Jr 15 5t i 282 96,328 63,440
Income tax expense calculated at tax rate of 25% PA25% Bt 51 1) T 15 8 B 52 (24,082) (15,860)
Effects of different overseas tax rates NGIRGEAN R ip- A (1,352) (1,445)
Income not subject to tax RSB 352 385
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes AN ] FOEL B 52 (2,546) (4,306)
Unrecognised tax losses R HERR 1 B s 1B (7,461) (3,022)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses ) A A A R 2 B T s 1R 34,832 24,010

Tax effect of recognition of previously unrecognised i 58 i £ R 58 2 ' I 22 B 1

temporary differences BT 5 2 11,148 -
Preferential income tax rate B B T 1S BB R 172 -
Withholding taxes on royalties in Mainland China 7 H [8 K B8 (1) 2245 RE 22 TE AN B (1,321) (330)
Income tax credit/(expense) SIS RIS, (B 52) 9,742 (568)

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at the rate of 16.5% (2023:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong,
except for the first HK$2,000,000 of qualified entity’s assessable
profit is calculated at 8.25%, which is in accordance with the two-
tiered profits tax rates regime. No provision for Hong Kong profits
tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the
Group did not have any assessable profit arising in Hong Kong
during the two years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Provision for China corporate income tax is calculated based
on the statutory tax rate of 25% (2023: 25%) on the assessable
income of each of the Group’s entities incorporated in Mainland
China. In accordance with the relevant PRC corporate income
tax laws, implementation regulations and guidance notes, certain
subsidiaries of the Group in Mainland China are entitled to tax
concessions whereby the profits of these subsidiaries are taxed at a
preferential income tax rate.

Pursuant to the China corporate income tax laws, 10% (2023:
10%) withholding tax is levied on all foreign investors in respect of
dividend distributions arising from a foreign investment enterprise.
Withholding tax on royalties at a reduced rate of 7% (2023: 7%) by
treaty is applied to the Group’s entities incorporated in Hong Kong
for royalties received or receivable, net with value-added tax.

oz BER A5 B0 v A0 RO L > PR S B B
2,000,000%5 7 & LB 2L R 1 8. 25 % B AL - &
5 15 ol o e i w1 R S 2 R e Bl R 16.5% (—
AR 1 16.5%) FHE o R AL EREE
B R ENAES T H =+ —H 1L WA
AR > I R A U A A AT ] ME R B B A > WA
G A ik 2% TR Sl 0 TR A s R A B AE L A o

R B i 2 T A5 B G A 4R T A K B g
S 2B RERR B AL I E B 25% (&
TSR 0 25%) RS o AR TR R AT BH 4 2 T
B~ BB A8 5] A% 5 EA R H B K
e 1 o T B RS 2 ) = A Bl e 1B o B RS AR
5 A1 2 ) VT 4 BT A5 B B SR A

HR 5 o B A 2E T A B T A T MR R JE
INEAS S BB IRZEBAN10% (— & — = 4F
10%) Z 0B o A& H R F B a2 B
HE > ZEUBE 0 BR B (E B 2 Wi sk R i S HE
PR T2 7% (. . =4F 1 7%) Bl R
BB RER AL

BEXEHBEERARAGD | —F _0EEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 BV 285 R B

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company of RMB106,597,000
(2023: RMB62,435,000) by the weighted average number of
1,978,598,429 shares (2023: 1,849,669,780 shares) in issue for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company by the adjusted
weighted average number of shares, after taking into consideration
of the exercise of share options as follows:

BREARMNTIRBERE - ZWE+ =
H =4 — B k4 AR | B HE S 2R A
R #106,597,0007C (& =4 : AR
62,435,00070) BR DA EL B AT LAy 2 i i T2 8 H
1,978,598,429 8% (% T =4 © 1,849,669,780/%)
HER

5 PR T 22 ) T AR A O ) R E A a2 R B L

S5 T A e .00 0 1 -3 5 2
Hats i F

Number of shares

Jit 4y 5 H
2024 2023
ZR A St o
Weighted average number of shares in issue CEEAT I 00y 2 T 24 8 H 1,978,598,429  1,849,669,780
Effect of exercise of share options A7 o8 i L A 2 S 4,386,743 -
Adjusted weighted average number of shares A VR T R R 1
for dilution effect - 45 1 £y 3 H 1,982,985,172  1,849,669,780

On the other hand, 11,250,000 share options were not dilutive
as the exercise price of these share options exceeded the average
market price of the Company’s shares for the year ended 31
December 2024 and were excluded in the calculation of diluted
earnings per share.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, basic and diluted earnings
per share were the same since the share options were not dilutive as
the exercise price of the share options exceeded the average market
price of the Company’s shares.

HAN o MECEPUESH S —H IR
A 551,250,000 85 i A 22 47 {18 v 1A AR 2 =)
Uy B2 T AR > % 0 I I HE 7 20 9 08 % AE T
T I e R o PR o

WE T A= HIREE Bk
H AR T T AR [R] o (R 2 i PSR 2 A fo v
T AR 2% ) ey B9 P2 AR 5 AR 2% ) 2 B T R
HEHE -

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
N R¥ T oo ANRWT T
Final dividend of HK$0.01 per share for the year 4 AFHES O FH#E
ended 31 December 2023 provided for or paid B e i e =
during the year LA 3 R 1 S A 0.0 15 T
(2023: Nil) (CZFE =4 4) 17,934 -

The board of directors of the Company recommended the
payment of a final dividend of HK$0.02 (2023: HK$0.01) per
share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024, totalling
approximately RMB37,198,000 (2023: RMB17,934,000).
The proposed final dividend is subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. These consolidated financial statements do not reflect the
financial impact of this proposed final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2024.
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AANFREFFERBRBEE X _O4E+H
= H kAR IR B R B S A 0,023 T (—
T AR 0.01H0T) - ARFE ARTE37,198,000
TC (& AR 0 NRH17,934,0000T) © R
T R S5 7B 288 AR N ) T SR IR Je B R A AE K &
HEvE - PLEE R I B I AR E
T PAEF T H =+ B IRAEE ARG B R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B T U i A B R

Employee benefits expense, including directors’ emoluments,

i B A8 A BH S (6145 3 S5 ) 45

represents:
2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANRW TG YN
Salaries and allowances Wr b 35,997 34,081
Discretionary performance bonus 1 R BLAL AL 6,863 4,324
Defined contribution pension costs (Note (i)) FERAMEFOR IR & AR (W EG)) 2,959 2,883
Share-based payment expense DAy o B 22 A5 3K B 32 636 1,527
46,455 42,815

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no
unvested benefit was utilised by the Group to reduce the level
of contributions. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there
was no unvested benefit available to be utilised in future

years.

The five highest paid individuals for the year include four
(2023: three) directors whose emoluments are reflected in the
analysis shown in Note 33. The emoluments of the remaining
one (2023: two) individuals are as follows:

A B4 A B 8 A i

—m—=

IS SN

BEF SR F At
St AR S B R R
CLE TR PR S
SRR A S A

R TE

ER - A4 REFMALETNL (2%
TSR =) SR HLN A o B O B s
33 0 Hf— & (ZF =4 W) AL
Bl R

2024 2023

e Y 11/ o e S
RMB’000 RMB’000
N R¥ T oo AR T
Salaries and allowances 4 oA 1,050 3,156
Discretionary performance bonus 9 1 R BLAL AL 445 613
Defined contribution pension costs E FE AL ORI iUA 157 159
Share-based payment expense DA R Ay o i 22 AN BB 32 13 246
1,665 4,174

Number of individuals

N
2024 2023
Emolument bands Tl 4 s S e~ Sy 11! 3 S
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 A E%1,000,0017C £ A R #%1,500,0007C - 1
RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 A E%1,500,0017C £ A R #%2,000,0007C 1 -
RMB2,500,001 to RMB3,000,000 A B %2,500,0017C £ A R %3,000,0007C - 1
1 2

BEOOC e BB OB AR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 T 5 R B R

No emoluments have been paid by the Group to the directors s 45 8] S I (6] % = 0l 044 S BTN S
or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to E 2 W 515 S5 M A RSB sAVE 2 mA
join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss A 55 1B IRF S8 ) > ml VR Ay Ak Rl 1 1) AT £l T
of office. No directors or the five highest paid individuals B ME R IEF A =+ —H L4
waived or have agreed to waive any emolument during the J¥ o 253 ol T4 e H N L B I g
year ended 31 December 2024. g [7] J T AT AT P 4 o
2024 2023
e- Sy 11/ o —EF =
RMB’000 RMB’000

PN AR BT

Cost e
At 1 January w—H—H 674,405 695,701
Disposals & = (21,296)
At31December . pt—A=t—n TS 674,405
Accumulated depreciation and impairment AT E L BUE
At 1 January Hw—H—H 279,941 269,072
Impairment BE 12,789 6,065
Disposals & - (12,324)
Depreciation e 15,843 17,128
___ At3l December ) wRr—-A=t—-H 308,573 279,941
Net book value R T ¥ R
At 31 December wt—-H=+—H 365,832 394,464
At 1 January w—H—H 394,464 426,629
The Group classifies rental income as operating cash flows. AEEMHAERASELESERSRE -
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The investment properties are leased to tenants under
operating leases with rental payments every 1-12 months.
Minimum lease payments receivable on non-cancellable
operating leases of investment properties are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B B 5 i o i

BEYERBELEEAEHTHE > e
AU — 2= A A H B XA o A
A AR A B A W R R
fscan T

2024 2023
B —E =

RMB’000 RMB’000

A R oo PNENY i

Within 1 year —FN 37,143 39,962

Between 1 and 2 years — B AE 20,121 37,583

Between 2 and 3 years W2 A 8,172 19,956

Between 3 and 4 years =R YA 6,277 9,237

Between 4 and 5 years Y % AR 6,242 8,130

Later than 5 years FHAERL B 10,505 16,773

88,460 131,641

The Group’s investment properties are located in Mainland
China. During the year ended 31 December 2024, investment
properties were leased to third parties and generated
rental income amounting to RMB39,855,000 (2023:
RMB46,025,000). The rental income is included in “other
income” in the consolidated income statement. The operating
expenses relating to the investment properties amounted to
approximately RMB27,752,000 (2023: RMB27,074,000),
which included depreciation expenses of approximately
RMB15,843,000 (2023: RMB17,128,000), were charged
to general and administrative expenses in the consolidated
income statement.

As at 31 December 2024, the aggregated fair values of
the Group’s investment properties were approximately
RMB681,853,000 (2023: RMB713,377,000). The investment
properties’ fair values were valued by Shanghai Zhengda
Assets Appraisal Company Limited (“Shanghai Zhengda”),
an independent professionally qualified valuer who holds
relevant professional qualifications registered in Mainland
China, and has relevant experience in respect of the
investment properties valued.

<

AR BCE Y EAR B RE - #E
EJr*H = —HILEE  AREESREDED
nn?ﬁ o BEA AR %39,855,0000T (—F
=4 AR #46,025,00070) 4 ILA - T4
Llﬁz)\nJr)\,,T Bl R HAWBA | - G
B 2 5848 B 4 N R 27,752, 00075 (=%
=4 AR ¥27,074,0007T) 0 HAFEFLH AR
Fn‘*%ﬁs 843,00070 (& =4« AR¥¥17,128,000
JC) MBS B S > A EE A SR A 3R R — % M AT
BIF%'%?’/:EP

A FE AR+ A S H s REEEREY
0 25 ATEMEL AR 681,853,0000T (%
TUEAE  NR W 713,377,00000) o BB EN
SPEAE B E KRR AN A R4 ] (T R I
K D) (— M8 1 S ZE G AR SRR B > R R T Y
AR GG > e KRR B WA
SRR G W S 00 A B AR 1E B REAL o

R BEBERAERAE | ZDFE2HMEEH 109
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The valuations of the investment properties are derived
using (i) income approach by making references to the
rental income derived from existing tenancies; (ii) market
approach by referencing to the recent comparable sales
transactions available in the relevant property market; and
(iii) replacement cost approach by making references to the
cost of redeveloping and constructing the relevant property.
The fair values of the investment properties are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy as a level 3 fair value
measurement and are sensitive to changes in both observable
and unobservable inputs.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group observed that there were
indicators that investment properties might be subject to risk
of decline in value after performing preliminary market price
research of the investment properties. Detailed impairment
assessments were performed for investment properties with
impairment indicators with the assistance from Shanghai
Zhengda to determine the recoverable amounts. The
recoverable amounts were determined based on higher of
value in use or fair value less costs of disposal. The valuation
result indicated that the recoverable amount of an investment
property was lower than its carrying amount. As a result, the
Group recognised an impairment loss of RMB12,789,000
(2023: RMB6,065,000) in “other gains/(losses) — net” for the
year ended 31 December 2024.

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques and the
most sensitive inputs used in the valuation of the investment

property with impairment:

Valuation techniques

Significant unobservable inputs

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i o i

BawENMERAOBRAL 25814
AWMU A 5 ()T > 25 HBEY
MG WA AT LB E AR S 5 R (i) E
BEIASE > 2% B SN E SN %
MRS o AN A TEMEEL
RN R o i /N Y R
o B ] A AR AT A R B AL AR AR
B o

AT PEF A =+ —H s AREELE
G FERTIE T G EE AR - 5%
BLA B & R W W 2] R A7 e Al %
B ERE o 7F L IE R BT » B A
WE B S 0 BB ) ST T SR AN W T
Al > DA 2 R i e] 4 8A o ] i ] A RE A i
A A T (R 2 B AR T 3 AR Y
WS BN SR 2 WA Y 2 n] i )
S BEAK Y FLOR T A BH o PRUL . AEHEE
TETPAEA T H = HIREEAE T HAb
g5, ks 48) — Y38 ) C i RR (B s 4R
N E%12,789,0007T (& ~=4F : AW
6,065,0007T) °

AR R A A BB (L B 80 B ) S A {8+ BT
F9 A L 5 97 A0 e 5 SRR 19 DR 2 MR B2

Unobservable inputs

i 1645 7l K Tin A W 81 5% ) Rt A B & R
Market approach Expected market unit price (RMB/square meter) 30,890
gk FT G AR (KR, P oK)

N AT B 5 R LN R (LA BRAR — TR T 45 R
AL AE S R B P (B R o

Relationship of unobservable inputs to fair value — the higher
the expected market unit price, the higher the fair value.
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Leasehold  Furniture, fixture

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 T 5 R B R

improvements and equipment Motor vehicles Total
fRf~ €
HEWEEE RERG M HH it
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARHT T INSLS O INFL SO AR
Cost AL
At 1 January 2023 RZF-=F—-F—H 2320 11,578 1,288 15,186
Exchange adjustment 5 - (1) - 0
Additions NE 1,446 221 808 2475
Disposals & - 31 (757) (1,188)
At 31 December 2023 and REFZ=ZEFZA=+-HR
1 January 2024 ZE - —H 3,766 11,367 1,339 16,472
Exchange adjustment WA - 4 - 4
Additions KE 2,290 201 - 2,491
Disposals ik (2,135) (1,409) - (3,544)
At 31 December 2024 REEZWEF A=A 391 10,163 1,339 15423
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2 E R
At [ January 2023 R EE-H-H 1,161 10,719 1,288 13,168
Exchange adjustment A - W) - oy
Depreciation il 864 141 78 1,083
Impairment W 675 - - 675
Disposals ik 4 - @31) (756) (1,187)
At 31 December 2023 and WoEZ=EF A=tk
I January 2024 ZEZWE-A-A 2,700 10428 610 13,738
Exchange adjustment E b A = 4 = 4
Depreciation e 625 157 161 943
Disposals i (2,008) (1,403) - (3471)
_ AWDecember204 R _f=t-n ] LT me Loib
Net book value WH R E
At31 December 2024 REFZWEFZA=1-H 2,664 977 568 4209
At31 December 2023 e St i S 1,066 939 729 2,734

Depreciation expenses of RMB384,000 (2023: RMB197,000) and
RMB559,000 (2023: RMB886,000) were charged to selling and
distribution expenses and general and administrative expenses,

respectively.

P BH SR N R M384,0007C (T =4F : AR
#197,00070) M A R #559,0000C (—F =4 ¢
A R H5886,00070) 4 Bl 51 A 8B K 43 #4 B 32 DA

Be— M R ATBLBA 3

BEOOC e BB OB AR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 BV 285 R B

This note provides information for leases where the Group is a
lessee.

(i) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance sheet

AR RE AR 1 B I A S T 1 2 AR A RO AL B A

() &G EE AR S

2024 2023
—B YA —E =
RMB’000 RMB’000
NS T NEHT T
Right-of-use assets: 1A
Buildings M 6,539 4,348

During the year, addition and modification to the right-of-
use assets were RMB6,647,000 (2023: RMBS5,812,000) and
RMB302,000 (2023: RMB1,059,000), respectively.

AR R A I R B RT Al B A
[ #6,647,0007C (& = =4« AR ¥
5,812,0007T) & A\ R #302,0000C (% =

0 NR%1,059,0000C) ©

2024 2023

ZE Y —Ez =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥ETu UNEEY: S R

Lease liabilities: HHE A -
Current i 3,126 5,834
Non-current I E) 3,854 3,451
6,980 9,285
(ii) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement (i) REEE TS RMERR ) A%

2024 2023

TR YA —E =
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥Tx YN ETH
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i R 4,804 4,625
Gain on termination of leases KL B I AR (3,001) -
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets i R R (B e 4R - 4,779
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaEMNE 360 431

(iii) The total cash outflows for leases during the year ended 31
December 2024 was RMB5,930,000 (2023: RMB5,245,000).

(iv) The Group leases various offices, warehouses and stores.
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed periods of
approximately 1 to 3 years (2023: 1 to 4 years).
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SR W= A SO

aaRt A AR

5,930,0007C (& — =4 AR 5,245,000

Jb) e

(v) AEEHEZ RN E ~ A &E & o
EAFEEREEMR > A —E=4F (&
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 13 B 285 R B

(v) Variable lease payments (v) AT AT
Some property leases contain variable payment terms that are F 23 B b e FH 3 B 6 B R
linked to sales generated from a store. For individual stores, ﬁ’] B AT 53 A R R o BN A E &l > FLE AT
lease payments are on the basis of variable payment terms O FE A AT A *EEH G S A B 1 14%
with percentages ranging from 14% to 18% of sales (2023: ilS% (R Z4F 0 — 8 & e s
same). Variable payment terms are used for a variety of Lo fdT W A H KGR RN A 2> /8
reasons, including minimising the fixed costs base for newly 58 57 7 5% 0 1) [ 2 AR s O ML - AR
established stores. Variable lease payments that depend on 5 B 5 4 REUREE A 1Y T B AE O AN ROLE A 0 %
sales are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the S AT R B AR A I B T AR A o
condition that triggers those payments occur.
(vi) As at 31 December 2024, management carried out a review (viy REZEF A =1—0 > HHEYH
of the recoverable amounts of its retail store assets including HRE GG GE (W - B Rk
in property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets. No DL R AT F RE ) 1 T Ui Il < BEOEEAT T
impairment loss (2023: RMB675,000 and RMB4,779,000 HoMBEEF_MNETH=1+—HIE4E
for property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets, J S MR RRAT R 1R (R T =4F - )
respectively) or reversal of impairment loss was recognised 3 WS BeaR i LA T R RE R 4 Bl 2 N
for the year ended 31 December 2024. R #675,0007C & A [ #4,779,00078) 58 I
(B R A3 (] o
2024 2023
e- Sy 11/ o —EF =
RMB’000 RMB’000
NN N R T T
At 1 January r—H—H 1,099 1,041
Share of profit JREAG 22 ) 93 58
At 31 December wr—H=1—H 1,192 1,099
Details of the associates as at 31 December 2024 are as follows: ACZETWET A=+ —H o BEARZE
T
Place of incorporation Particulars of Interests held
Name and operation paid-up capital indirectly Principal activities
+ il W 0 3 I 7 St O 5 8 AR iF 1% PR FEEH
Hanjiang Dayong Shoe Material ~ China RMB5,457,000 30% Manufacture of shoe
Co., Ltd., Putian City w A B H5,457,0000C materials
A T3ROS A R ] R B R
Hanjiang Jinxing Shoe Industrial China US$4,900,000 30% Manufacture of
Co., Ltd., Putian City el 4,900,000 JC footwear products
TR R RA B3k B
R B RERAMRAGE | ZF_ZWEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Bk T U 5 i A B R

2024 2023
DE- Y 111 o S
RMB’000 RMB’000

PN N R T 5T

At 1 January and 31 December w—H—HAktZA=+—H = -
Details of the joint venture are as follows: GEAEZFIENT
Place of incorporation Particulars of Interest held
Name and operation paid-up capital indirectly Principal activity
+ Al I 92 3 R 5 4 3t B O30 JBE AR 3 1 ERHLE FT e
Marlow House Asia Limited British Virgin Islands/ 2 shares of 50% Investment holding
Malaysia US$1 each e g3l
) xiyid ) 2 M i T {EL 156 7T
J& 2 7 2R Z Bty
2024 2023
E YA S
RMB’000 RMB’000
NN T NEHT T
Finished goods B 4,388 5,058
The cost of inventories expensed and included in cost of sales G A B SR B 6 AR B A7 B A Sy N R
amounted to RMB159,696,000 (2023: RMB131,259,000) 159,696,0007C ( % — =4 : AR ¥131,259,000
after net of provision for inventories of RMB3,775,000 (2023: 7o) o (2B AF & B N IR H3,775,0000C (—
RMB840,000). As at 31 December 2024, inventories are stated net T A AR E40,00070) ) o i A U 4R
of provision balance of RMB4,615,000 (2023: RMB840,000). T A=+ —H s FUIENTE & C bR B AR A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B T U i A B R

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

N ST NE¥ET

Trade receivables 2 5y eI 3K 16,636 14,521
Less: loss allowance (Note 3.1(iii)) W IR (MY AE3.1GiD)) (9,401) (11,250)

Trade receivables — net B G MR IR 3K — T AH 7,235 3,271

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, net of loss allowance,

based on invoice date is as follows:

g5 H R 2 B ) MEOIR AR (11 BR gl 1R 43¢
i) MR o AT

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANRWT 5 PN

0 - 30 days 0Z30H 5,433 2,187
31 - 60 days 31E60H 1,251 803
Over 60 days 60H L E 551 281
5235 3,271

The carrying amounts of trade receivables, net of loss allowance,
are denominated in RMB and approximate their fair value. The
Group generally allows a credit period of 30 to 60 days to its trade

customers.

B4 5 W WSO K 1) BR AT L (0 Bk s PR 98640 LIRS
W (E S LA (AR A o AR — eie T =
B 5% F30260K K581 -

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
ANR¥T o6 UNERY S R

Value-added tax recoverable, net of AT A I (B T (B e (B
impairment loss (Note) K 1R) (Mt it) 13,561 10,976
Deposits 4 3,162 3,025
Prepayments T AT I 1,883 1,425
Rental receivables FHL 4 E iR 248 1,429
Others oAt 1,161 1,061
20,015 17,916

Note: For the year ended 31 December 2024, in view of the current business
operation, management assessed and reversed the impairment loss on
value-added tax recoverable of RMB10,000,000 (2023: Nil) which was

credited to consolidated income statement.

Wit o #EZEZES ZH S A HIEEE - EE
F 7 B T A P B ST B 1] 5] [ A
18 Bl JH 2 I [ 7 14 75 A R °10,000,0000C (=%
AR HE)  BEHE G AR B e

BEXEHBEERARAGD | —F _0EEH
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 BV 285 R B

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
YN & ST ANERETT
Financial assets at FVPL 2N A F AR 43 1) 4 il
(note (i)) ERE (M AFEG)) 20,477 21,312
Financial assets at amortised cost DA B B AS 5 0 4 Rl
(note (ii)) (B 3EGD) 10,000 -
At 31 December wt—A=+—8 30,477 21,312
Movements of the other financial assets are analysed as follows: A <5 il R 2 S AN TN R
2024 2023
R4 SERC=
RMB’000 RMB’000
YN ST YN T
At 1 January w—H—H 21,312 30,687
Purchase A 20,000 31,804
Fair value gain on financial assets at A EE R AR 15 1Y 4 Rl
FVPL B L A 311 1,140
Redemption Vg 7] (11,146) (42,319)
At 31 December wr=—H=+—H 30,477 21,312

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
purchased certificates of deposit purchased from a
commercial bank in Mainland China. As at 31 December
2024, the Group had certificates of deposit denominated in
RMB carrying fixed interest rate of 3.00% and 1.65% per
annum and having maturities of 36 months from June 2023 to
June 2026 and 12 months from December 2024 to December
2025, respectively. Since these certificates of deposit can be
traded any time before maturity, thus, they are classified as
current assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
purchased certificates of deposit from a commercial bank in
Mainland China. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had
certificates of deposit denominated in RMB carrying fixed
interest rate of 1.65% per annum and having maturity of 12
months from December 2024 to December 2025. Since the
certificates of deposit cannot be traded or early redeemed
before their maturity date, thus, they are classified as
financial assets at amortised costs.
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EEMNERH1.65% > U KREIH B12M8A -
HoZF WA+ HAE R A4+
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B T U i A B R

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

ANR¥T o6 UNERY S R

Cash at banks and in hand HRAT A K T o B 4 476,170 366,273

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are
denominated in the following currencies:

B RBL a5 Y 2 MR E DL 51 & R

2024 2023
—Z e S

RMB’000 RMB’000

YN & ST NR¥F ot

RMB NG 442,308 331,284

HK$ 5 IT 25,663 25,566

US$ B 8,199 9,423

476,170 366,273

RMB is not a freely convertible currency in the international
market. The remittance of RMB out of Mainland China is subject
to the rules and regulations of exchange control promulgated by the
Chinese government.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents
of RMB441,610,000 (2023: RMB306,194,000) were kept in the
Mainland China.

PR N SR S NS BRI SN i
HH B A e 2 32 v 1B R A A 22 A1 BEE AR A R R
Bk BUBR il -

WoEDWAETZAZSt—H AEARS R
B4 S B Y By N R %441,610,0000C (—F = =
A AR H306,194,0007T) 7 B A B R FE o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 T 5 R B R

The carrying amounts of trade payables are considered to be the H A VBT > B S A R ) R T B A
same as their fair value due to their short-term in nature. The Ty BN REAE AR o 428850 H M E 5 AT IR
ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as R A -
follows:
2024 2023
e- Sy 11/ o e
RMB’000 RMB’000

PN AR T

0-30 days 0230H 34,729 34,788
31 -60 days 31260H 43 209
Over 60 days 60H DAk 2,119 2,156
36,891 37,153

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

PN T AR T

Deposits received EAEE 11,984 9,174
Accrued charges REFE 2 H 10,203 9,050
Accrued employee benefits expense REF R B A8 R BH S 6,748 8,076
Receipts in advance T H 5,267 7,016
Other tax payables L A R A8 T 2,598 1,585
Others HoAts 1,412 908
38,212 35,809
The carrying amounts of accrued charges and other payables are H A A MR T 2 A R A R R
considered to be the same as their fair values due to their short- R TH (B A 25 BN P (B (B AR [R] o

term in nature.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B B 5 i o i

Deferred income tax is calculated on temporary differences under

it -

the liability method using the applicable tax rates.

Movements in net deferred income tax assets/(liabilities) are as
follow:

O A P15 B JELOR ) A i T B 2 R R T B

HESE PTG BLHE (B BT

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR ¥ET o6 NR¥EF It
At 1 January m—H—H 4,117) (3,881)
Credited/(charged) to consolidated R (FEA) &4
income statement I 45 % 11,091 (236)
At 31 December wrt—A=+—H 6,974 (4,117)

Movements in deferred income tax assets and liabiliti

es (prior to

offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction) during the

year are as follows:

A AR A T A BT B S BRI B B (FE A — Bt
B D P IS R AT AR

Deferred income tax assets Deceleration of depreciation Tax losses Provisions Total
BRI i B LR A BEE# 4] am
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
CEOWE RS ZFONE CFCCF SFONE CZCCF CZONE SRS
RMB’000  RMB'000 ~ RMB000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’000
ARBTFE ARWTT ARWFE ARWTE ARWFx ARWTT ARWFZ ARWTT
At 1 January #=H—H - - - - - - - -
Credited to consolidated income il
statement s % 12,637 - 11,874 - 2,823 - 21334 -
At31 December BEZA=t—H 12,637 - 11,374 - 2,823 - 21,334 -
Deferred income tax liabilities Acceleration of depreciation Unremitted profits Total
JEAE 1 B £ 1R T B B 1 AR AR W
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023
SR e St e L e St e L2 “RCZE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
NI BT ARHT INSL RO NS NRET 78 NS
At [ January R=H—H 4,117 3,881 - - 4,117 3,881
Charged to consolidated income AAGS
statement i % 2,634 236 13,609 - 16,243 236
At31 December REZA=+—H 6,751 4117 13,609 - 20,360 4117

REOOE UEOBWOBR v R AR

v |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f 13 BV 285 R B

The expiry of unrecognised tax losses as at 31 December 2024 is as

AR TAES A= H o KRB

follows: 2w

2024 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000
YN & ST UNRL S aPTH
Tax losses expiring in 5 years AR N JiE T 2 B T s 1R 282,744 744,802
Tax losses without expiry date e JE T H A 2 B s 18R 130,760 117,195
413,504 861,997

As at 31 December 2024, the potential deferred income tax assets BoENEF A=+ — LN [ N

in respect of the above unrecognised tax losses amounted to

MﬁIEEETEPFEEﬁz@ftiﬂfﬁﬁlﬁﬁﬁi

RMB92,261,000 (2023: RMB205,538,000). I NR¥592,261,00070 (=& =48 - AR
205,538,0007C) °
2024 2023
R NAE SERCEE
Number of Share Number of Share
shares capital shares capital
it ¥ H it A et 8 H i 7
Thousand HK$°000 Thousand HK$’000
Tt T T T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 978 Il M0, 1 0% 7T
Authorised: W
At 1 January and 31 December B—=H—HE+ZH=+—H 10,000,000 1,000,000 10,000,000 1,000,000
Issued and fully paid: EFTRAE -
At [ January W—=H—H 1,978,599 175,202 1,814,057 160,663
Conversion of convertible notes 4 4 - = 164,542 14,539
At 31 December R+=A=+—H 1,978,599 175,202 1,978,599 175,202

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no
movements in the share capital of the Company.

On 16 October 2023, 164,541,807 shares in aggregate were issued,
at the conversion price of HK$0.221 per share, to convertible
notes holder upon the full conversion of convertible notes. As a
result, there was an increase in share capital and share premium
of approximately RMB14,539,000 and RMB17,592,000,
respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 T 5 R B R

Convertible ~ Share-based ~ Currency
Share Capital Merger  notes capital payment  translation  Statutory  Refained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total
‘ TARGE WRHAEE L
ROE  RRRE  GBRE RRRE SRR EARE  BeRE REEA it
RMB'0O0  RMBON0  RMBOOD  RMB'OJ  RMBOOO  RMBOW  RMBOOO  RVBOO  RMB'N0
ARBTL  ARETr  ARETx  AREFL  ARETRX ARRTL OAREFR ARFETR ARETR
(Note (a) (Note (b)) (Note (c))
W) (Wi Kt
(Ml RBZE-A-R mwr % Wi e e ms s 0
Profit or the year EngA - - - - - - - 62,435 62,435
Other comprehensive income e - - - - - (5) - - (205)
Total comprehensive income AMNEAE - - - - - (125) - 62435 62,210
Conversion of convertible notes TMF#W 17592 - - (5,700) - - - 5,700 17592
Changes inownership merestna subsidiary B AN EER %S
without change of control ik EHER D - - . - = - - 41256 42256
Dissolution of a subsidiary BENEAA - - - - - (131) (166) 297 -
Share option scheme: mﬂéﬁf% '
- Value of grantee services - kB ARBER - - . - 1527 - - - 1507
- Transfer upon lapse of share options - RERERRES - - - - (T0) - - 0 -
£ Ol s i SGES  B e T o S L L R . ..
At31 December 2023 and I St ek o
Ve I T TR TN N I Y
Profit for the year Eng - - - - - - - 1063 106597
Other comprehensive income AhdmEhs - - - - - 1,166 - - 1,166
Total comprehensive income AHBAE - - - - - 1,166 - 106,597 107,763
Dividend provided for or paid MRS R - - - = = = = 9% (194)
Share aption scheme: BlETY -
- Value of grantee services - kB ARBERE - - - - 036 - - - 036
~ Transfer upon lapseof share options - RERERREE - - - - (150) - = 150 -
| Toularsactions i shaholles s o o o S c . o =y
At31 December 2024 g S 125 g 128943 1554 R - 8,504 (39,367) 150,612 31,754 83,47

Notes: Bt Ft

(a)  The capital reserve mainly represents the nominal amount of shares (a)  JRAif = ZEFE AR L% Al — JL L LA B PR 2 [T
repurchased by the Company in 1999. i -

(b)  The merger reserve represents the difference between the aggregate (b) B OEE 75 B 25 Al 2 9 2K 25 al i f e H 2 SRS [T
nominal amount of the share capital of the subsidiaries at the date on (B A LA 28 ] JR$FE— T L AR 2N 7] EALE A0
which they were acquired by the Company and the nominal amount of the JHEACAE Py 2577 AN 187 (WY & 2 258 -
share capital issued by the Company as consideration for the acquisition
pursuant to the corporate reorganisation in 1995.

(c) As stipulated by regulations in Mainland China, the Company’s (c) W%ﬁb@iﬁffﬁ A2 R K [ 7 R A
subsidiaries established and operated in Mainland China are required 2 WG 2 Al LB 17 7 R 2 D 10% A L E i

to appropriate minimum 10% of their after-tax profit to the statutory
reserves and enterprise expansion fund, at rates determined by their
respective board of directors. The statutory reserves can be utilised to
offset prior years’ losses or for the issuance of bonus shares, whilst the
enterprise expansion fund can be utilised for the development of business
operations. When the statutory reserves reach an amount equal to 50% of
the registered capital of the subsidiary, further appropriation is optional.

e
~

% e B

i RALFEFE RIS - Bk H Py B 28 7l 75 A 2
F G E o WE [ AT F AR L — 4 fr 15
JHTEBEFTALIE - Wﬁ%%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ/ﬁiiﬁ%ﬁ“
A o L TE [l 2 2 B 2 A AR 2 50% % T
BEFET IS

REBRAMRAE | ZF W EFH
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The Company has adopted a new share option scheme on 25 May
2022 (the “2022 Scheme”) and will remain in force for 10 years
from the date of adoption. There were no options granted and no
outstanding share options under the 2022 Scheme.

The share options are generally valid for a period of ten years and
will lapse if the grantees leave the Group before the share options
are exercisable. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation
to repurchase or settle the share options in cash.

The share option scheme adopted in 2013 (the “2013 Scheme”)
was terminated on 25 May 2022 and no further option may be
granted. Any outstanding options granted prior to such termination
but not yet exercised at the time of termination shall continue to
be valid and exercisable in accordance with the terms of the 2013
Scheme. Movements in the number of share options outstanding
and their weighted average exercise prices under the 2013 Scheme
are as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i o i

ARFREZHETA T LARMN T —
TR S RE R ([ % — AR S ]) E%’m
< HBHMERFA AW 4R o AR T AR
7 A 1 B 1 R AT 68 Y S A

S S HEE A 8] — B A T A 2R 52 S i AR
HRE R AT (o RIS PR AR B A S > O S B 4 2k
R o AR AR TSI 41 3 R B SE T AR DA B 4[] B
nn(ﬁgﬁﬂiﬂ%c’

T SRR AR Y S AR T ) ([ % = AER
HDER -FHELHA S FRAKLE A
FHZ T W ICHE © MR % — = 4R E i ek
%t B A 1k 2 R T (R R A AR IR v R AT B A A
e 8 JC M - i A A AT A EL T DAAT O o ARG F
— AEFEE 1 R AT A R S A L T
SIGATEE A B I B

2024 2023
SR e Sy <
Weighted Weighted
average Number of average Number of
exercise price  share options  exercise price  share options
IHEF Vi It HE IR 1) b I
A7 1 18 #H T g HH
HK$ Thousand HK$ Thousand
biEozn T i T
At 1 January w—H—H 0.25 129,450 0.25 131,050
Lapsed during the year CANES3e 4.50 (100) 0.20 (1,600)
At 31 December w+—H=+—H 0.24 129,350 0.25 129,450
Exercisable at 31 December ~ J& 1 . H =+ —H A {7{#i 0.24 129,350 0.26 94,020
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 T 5 R B R

BEZWNFET A= HIREE S I E
W BBz ol A AT > DA B DA B 1 A L
AR S A N #636,00000 (—F =4 A
R #51,527,0007C)

No share options were granted, cancelled or exercised for the year
ended 31 December 2024 and the share-based payment expense
incurred was RMB636,000 (2023: RMB1,527,000).

Share options outstanding at the end of the year under the 2013 MRIE R — ZAEFEE] > AR R 1 R AT 2 B
RER) E 0 B R ATEE T

Scheme have the following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Number of share options

i e BE
Exercise price 2024 2023
I EfE R RO
Grant date Expiry date HKS$ Thousand Thousand
B H A 5 I T &
21 January 2014 20 January 2024 4.50 100
—E-NE—~H -+ —H —EZZE—AZ+H
25 January 2017 24 January 2027 0.70 11,250 11,250
B SR E ity s i | “EZZEHFE—-AZ+WHHAH
14 December 2021 13 December 2031 0.20 118,100 118,100
—E- -+ A+IH R =+ ZHA+T=HR
129,350 129,450
Weighted average remaining contractual life of options outstanding at year end (years)
AT A 1 A A7 (8 I e R 11 o REE - 2 e i A BABR (4F) 6.53 7.53

RRYE = — = AE GBI > W RAT (8 2 S M A

The model inputs for the share options outstanding under the 2013

Scheme are as follows:

BUERNT -

Grant date

Exercise price

Expiry date

Weighted average share price

Expected price volatility
Expected dividend yield
Risk-free interest rate

A

Tt
2R ERE

JInAE Y- 2 A5

T B AR D B
TELI B i i
4 ) oz A1)

14 December 2021
TR
+ZA+IEA
HK$0.20
0.20% 7T

13 December 2031

+=A+=H
HK$0.16
0.16% 7T
56.39%
0.94%

1.48%

25 January 2017
—R—tF
—HA—=+HhH
HK$0.70
0.70% 7T

24 January 2027
e e S
—H=+mHmA
HK$0.69
0.693# 7T
45.75%

2.31%

0.96%

BEOOC e BB OB AR A

| =% Z WA FE R 123



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i o i

(1)

Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash generated (i)

Wik P 453 B il 2 ) B 0 e 2 B 2 SR B

from operations is as follows: I
2024 2023
E YA e —
RMB’000 RMB’000
NN T N R T T
Profit before income tax Wk BT 5 i T 221 A 96,328 63,440
Adjustments for: 1F i i %
Depreciation of investment properties gL E g 15,843 17,128
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment L E NN R 943 1,083
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i P RE R 4,804 4,625
Impairment loss of investment properties @=L/ ESREN ZFis 12,789 6,065
Impairment loss of property, plant and equipment ) 2% ~ W5 S % s (8 s 18 = 675
Impairment loss of right-of-use assets R R (B e 4R - 4,779
Reversal of impairment loss on value-added tax 3% {E 4 JELiai (5 5 48
recoverable 18 In (10,000) -
(Reversal of impairment loss)/impairment loss on 4 il & 2 (i {8 )5 #8248 =)
financial assets /W AE R (892) 1,991
Provision for inventories PN g gl 3,775 840
Fair value gain of financial assets N B E A B
at FVPL B E 2 AP E AR (311) (1,140)
Loss on disposal of investment properties LEREYEER - 7,192
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and Y R Mk
equipment 518, Ol 4i) 68 (157)
Gain on termination of leases KE A B U AR (3,001) -
Share of profit of associates and FEAG AR LA B
a joint venture Z L F (93) (58)
Finance costs W5 LA 360 4,255
Interest income FLE WA (8,830) (7,840)
Share-based payment expense DL Ay 2o B 2 A5 3K B 3 636 1,527
Operating cash flows before working capital R e AR A
changes B4 i &= 112,419 104,405
Increase in inventories &8 (3,105) (5,898)
Decrease in trade receivables, deposits, H o IR~ # 4 -
prepayments and other TE AT ZCIE B HAth B Wi
receivables IR D 4,111 8,032
Increase in trade payables, accrued charges and B 5y REAT B~ REST 2 K
other payables and contract A JE AT HR R BB £
liabilities B 21,985 9,685
Cash generated from operations A 2 Bl 135,410 116,224
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B B 5 i o i

(i) In the consolidated statement of cash flow statement, (i) NEAFHERERN > HEREWELY
proceeds from disposal of investment properties and ¥ B BT IR R

property, plant and equipment can be reconciled as follows:

2024 2023
—EF Y B ——
RMB’000 RMB’000

PN AR T8

Proceeds from disposals B 2 K
— investment properties - kEWE - 1,780
— property, plant and equipment L E BN & 8 158
Net book value R 17 % (B
— investment properties (Note 14) - EWE (HaE14) = (8,972)
— property, plant and equipment L E BN &S]
(Note 15) (Ht7E15) (73) (1)
Loss on disposal of investment properties and B EYERYE -
property, plant and equipment — net Wi 5 B R b 2 e P T AR
(Note 7) (Mit7) (68) (7,035)
(iii) Net cash reconciliation (iil) FH & HIE
This section sets out an analysis and the movements of net 2B S 51 1 B A AT I s o
cash.
Cash and
Lease Convertible cash
liabilities notes equivalents Total
e RB4&
MEAR  THRRER HHEM Ht
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
N ARETFE  AR¥TFE  ARETE
At I January 2023 ﬁhiz*ﬁéﬂ —H (7,240) (28,307) 279,639 244,092
Cash flows BanE 5,245 - 85,965 91,210
Non-cash movement EBaEH

— Additions | (5.812) - - (5.812)

- Lease modification -HEBT (1,059) - - (1,059)

— Interest on lease liabilities -HEAHENE (431) - - (431)

— Imputed interest of convertible notes  — ] i [ 5% 75 i 5 Fl B - (3,824) - (3,824)

— Conversion of convertible notes - IR d - 32,131 - 32,131
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes i T2 12 - 669 681
At 31 December 2023 and ﬁL?::ﬁJFH*JhE&

1 January 2024 AT —H (9,285) - 366,273 356,988
Cash flows B 5,930 = 108,710 114,640
Non-cash movement EBaEE)

- Additions -Hm (6,647) - - (6,647)

- Lease modification -MREBT (302) = = (302)

— Interest on lease liabilities -HEAEH (360) - - (360)

— Gain on termination of leases By JHEE lhen 3,730 = = 3,730
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes  [E % 8} i %% (46) - 1,187 1,141
At 31 December 2024 AZEZIAEFZA =4 —H (6,980) - 476,170 469,190
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i o i

2024 2023
DE- Y 111 o S
RMB’000 RMB’000

PN N R T 5T

Financial assets at amortised cost: D N N =
Trade receivables Z 5y B R 3K 7,235 3,271
Deposits and other receivables (excluding non- 2 4 B oA E SR AR (S L4
financial assets) e mEE) 4,562 5,515
Other financial assets Hopth 4 il & A 10,000 -
Cash and cash equivalents Bl BB 4 E Y 476,170 366,273
U, LR - 375,059
Financial assets at FVPL: TS FAEE A 178 2 2/ G -

Other financial assets A < 20,477 21,312
Total financial assets G A AR 518,444 396,371
Financial liabilities at amortised cost: LU 6 25 7 1 19 <2 i A1

Trade payables B 5 MEAT R 3K 36,891 37,153

Accrued charges and other payables JRE ST 2 Y % At A R K

(excluding non-financial liabilities) R4 9F 4 fl & 50 23,103 18,577

Lease liabilities £ 1 6,980 9,285

Total financial liabilities & R AR 66,974 65,015
The Group did not have any significant transactions with BEEZWNES A=+ HILFE
related companies during the year ended 31 December 2024 A S WA T AT AT R B Ac o (%
(2023: Nil). TEA ) -

Remunerations for key management personnel of the Group, AEEFEERA B ZHM (BEECA
including amounts paid/payable to the directors of the AL Rl # S 2 3H) IR
Company, are as follow:
2024 2023
e- Sy 11/ e
RMB’000 RMB’000

N BT o0 AR T

Salaries and allowances Hr e S Rl 10,404 7,861
Discretionary performance bonus 1 1 R BLAL AL 1,884 1,098
Retirement benefits cost IR ARAR FI A 147 60
Share-based payment expense DA Ay 5 i 2 A5 3 B 32 542 1,085

12,977 10,104
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% 13 B 285 R B

Discretionary Share-based
Salaries and performance  Retirement payment
Fees  allowances bonus  benefits cost expense Total
1 VAT 43 2
Haehk #3 BIHE  ERZA
e H fE4L N B X At
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TIE ARWTT AR®TT ARWTE ARWTT AR®TE
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(Wit@)  (Hfi®)
For the year ended 31 REZZZNE+ZA
December 2024 Zt—HIEEE
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai A A
(Chairman) (L) - 3,919 496 16 90 4,521
Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao (CEQ) &8 &4 (T H B #) - 2,941 1,084 16 90 4,131
Mr. Wang Jungang T gk = 728 = 99 272 1,099
Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun (Note ¢) i&bi40 % + (4 ztc) = 2,097 304 16 90 2,507
Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai BB AR 137 - - - = 137
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence ¥ i £ 4 362 - - - = 362
Mr. Tan Philip NI 220 = = = = 220
719 9,685 1,884 147 542 12,977
For the year ended BEZF_=H+2A4
31 December 2023 =t—HIEFE
Mr. Chang Chih-Kai A A
(Chairman) (L) - 3,843 504 16 217 4,580
Mr. Chang Chih-Chiao (CEQ) &% & o/ (T4 #) - 2,751 594 16 217 3,578
Mr. Wang Jungang Tk - 561 - 28 651 1,240
Mr. Huang Shun-Tsai BB AR 135 - - - - 135
Mr. Hon Ping Cho Terence ¥ i SE 4 356 - - - - 356
Mr. Tan Philip E NI 215 - - - - 215
706 7,155 1,098 60 1,085 10,104
Notes: Wi
(a)  The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the Company (a)  EATECIET A L8 Al B 2 P 7 IR IE 1 35 o] K 23 7]
were in respect of their respective services as a director of the I 2 7 42 HE 2 B IR -
Company or its subsidiaries.
(b)  The emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the Company (b)  EATEGIEff K28 a] # 2 P T iR 9K 1 S it B AR

were in respect of directors’ other services in connection with the

management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries.

(c)  Ms. Chang Wan-Hsun has been appointed as an executive director

of the Company since 1 December 2024.

BEOOE UE OB OBR MR AR A

(©)

23 ] 2 T 2 7 2 Y AR

T LA [ = F P — B E S A
NAGITH -

e St G
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For each of the two years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
no termination benefit was paid or payable to any director of
the Company. No consideration was paid or payable to any
third party for making available any director’s services.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, no loan, quasi-loan or
other dealing was entered into by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries in favour of any director of the Company, any
controlled body corporate by or connected entity with any
director of the Company.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company was a
party and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.
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WEF SR T ONEF =
Hoak R4 B2 > B A A AEMEHD
AR B ASF 2 b AR AR AR A > R E AR L EE
e 5 160 A AR 25 = J7 © A BB A AC A

B EF LR SR CHAET ZH =t
> A2y m] B HAT: o 6 Ja 2 ) A8 48 5T 57 4%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A 1 T 5 R B R

At 31 December

w+—_H=4+—H
2024 2023
- Sy 11! e
RMB’000 RMB’000

PN AR T8

Non-current assets i B B E
Investments in subsidiaries KIS A A 2 BE 338,066 351,066
Amount due from a subsidiary JRE Wz B JoE 2 ) BR 3K 182,600 121,658
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,, 520,666 472,724
Current assets i B & A
Prepayments TE AT 3IH 43 94
Cash and cash equivalents Bl R BLG B 3,752 32,995
3795 33,089
Current liabilities i B £ 1R
Accrued charges and other payables JRE ST P % HAth R A R 3K 1,484 2,275
1,484 2,275
_Netcurrentassets  WBEE®#E 0000000 2311 30814
Net assets AR 522,977 503,538
Equity BE £5
Share capital &N 175,202 175,202
Reserves it 347,775 328,336
Total equity HERE AR 522,977 503,538
The financial statements of the Company were approved by RAFMBHRERCA F_HFE=ZA_+/NH
the board of directors on 26 March 2025 and were signed on MW IR AN L REEE -
its behalf.
CHANG CHIH-KAI CHANG CHIH-CHIAO
R RAE
Director Director
HH #zH
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130

Convertible ~ Share-based Currency
Share Capital ~ Contributed  notes capital payment translation Retained
premium reserve surplus reserve reserve reserve profits Total
" i
. TAREE R )
R BARE  SARR  EARG i EREE  REAEN it
RMBOOO  RMB'OOD  RMBOO  RMBOO0  RMB'OOD  RMBOO0  RMB'OO)  RMB'OW
ARBFT ARETL  AREFE  AREFr ARETL AREFE  ARBFr  ARETX
(Note 28a) (Note a)
Hit2se) (W)
Atlfanoay2003 . L A I |1 R LM I8 S 6361 O men I8
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - 28,359 28,359
Toulcomprehensiveincome 2R S S S L S BB B
Conversionof comvetiblenotes 9 -6 17,592 - - (5,700) - - 5,700 17,592
Share option scheme: A2
- Value of grantee services -REA ﬁﬁ G - - - - 1527 - - 1,527
~ Transfer upon lapse of share - ﬂ%ﬂx’fg?xﬁ i
options E - - - - (70) - 70 -
Total tmansacions withshareholders. HERZHAH nse - SR L N N o S0 1919
At31 December 2023 and REFZE+ZA=-H
My 204 X BEFCWECACR s s = L (AR T STl G
Profit for the year ERREA - - - - - - 36,737 36,737
Total comprehensive income Elent - - - - - - 36,737 36,737
Dividend provided for or paid ARE T RS = = = = = = (17,934) (17,934)
Share option scheme: BRETH -
~ Value of grantee services R AR B - - - - 636 - = 036
~ Transfer upon lapse of share - RIS A
options i = = = = (150) = 150 -
Total tmansacions withshareholders MERSHE® I S S S ® - s 1)
At31 December 2024 REFZWEFZAZF-0 128983 2,554 135318 - 8,504 (3,449) 75,704 Mms
Notes: Witat -
(a) The contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference  (a) AL lﬂZ@/\ﬁﬁ?#/f&é}/ﬂﬁﬁf ML HAF 1 HE I
between the aggregate net assets of the subsidiaries acquired by the SIS 28 T 2 B P (e AR A R 2 A AR T T 2

Company under the corporate reorganisation in 1995 and the nominal
amount of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

13 ] (H 77 27 2 2 B

(b)  The Company’s reserves available for distribution to its shareholders of ~ (b) 2\ ] A (IR JR TR 2 Al SRR i g A R 1 v 1~ A
the Company comprise share premium, contributed surplus, share-based /Kﬁﬁf LU 1 75 F 6 2 A 30 1 R AR 17 2 F = AR

payment reserve and retained profits. Under the Companies Act of the
Cayman Islands, the Company’s reserves are available for distributions
or paying dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of its
articles of association and provided that immediately following the
distribution or the payment of dividends, the Company is able to pay
its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. The share
premium may also be distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares. In
accordance with the Company’s articles of association, dividends shall be
payable out of the profits or other reserves, including the share premium,
of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B B 5 i o i

TRBHR EFDUEF A= —HZ

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31

BEOOC e BB OB AR A

December 2024: T E s
Place of Particulars of issued/
Name incorporation paid-up capital  Interests held®  Principal activities
# 1 Ak I B 32 3 B C8AT /B A Fife a0 FEEHK
Daphne Footwear (Sichuan) Co., Ltd® China RMB&§7,300,000 100%  Property holding
FESEDE (1)) A A A B A B 87,300,00078 SREEIES
Daphne Investment (Group) Co., Ltd.® China US$30,000,000 100%  Licensing, distribution and sale
EERRE (EE) FRAT G 30,000,000% 7T of footwear products and
accessories and investment
holding
BERIEE ) RO -
Ih B R U R R
ik
Full Pearl International Limited British Virgin Islands 3,294 shares of US$1 each 100%  Investment holding
BD B R ERE R 32940805 T (B 1 % T 2 M BB
Gentlefit Trading Limited Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares of 100%  Investment and trademarks
HHE S HR A s HK$100; 13,055,667 holding
non-voting deferred shares of BB PR R R A 1
HKS$13,055,667 @
1007 7T73 £ 1008 L4 i 5
13,055,6673 7C 71 45
13,055,667 15 8 £ 5% H
IRAE e fpo
Hanjiang Footwear Co., Ltd., Putian City” China US$6,000,000 85%  Property holding
H T A R A A B 6,000,000 & SRER/ES
Prime Success (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands 5,000,000 shares of 100%  Investment holding
FEELTER USS$0.01 each BB
5,000,000/ 4 % i i
0.01%TC 2 Bt fip
Shanghai Aixie Information Technology ~ China RMB1,000,000 100%  Distribution of footwear products
Co., Ltd. t AR 1,000,007 and accessories
EBEEEARAERA R SEUE i R RC 7 B 7
Victoria Success (Shanghai) Limited © China US$23,000,000 100%  Property holding
KBEF () AR B 23,000,000 ¢ SRERIES
Xieyong (Jinan) Footwear Co., Ltd.® China RMB17,500,000 100%  Property holding
v i 2B O A R i B 17,500,007 SRR S
Xieyong (Nanjing) Warehouse Co., Ltd. @  China RMB21,000,000 100%  Property holding
F 3 A TR i AR H21,000,00078 SREE/ES
Xieyong (Shenyang) Warehouse Co., Ltd. © China US$3,000,000 100%  Property holding
HE AR RARA RO ik 3,000,0003 ¢ SREEIES
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao o B 5 i o i

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries as at 31
December 2024: (Continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

These companies were established in Mainland China in the form of
foreign-owned enterprises and are limited liability companies.

Except Full Pearl International Limited and Prime Success
(BVI) Limited which are held directly by the Company, all other
subsidiaries are held indirectly by the Company.

Other than Full Pearl International Limited and Prime Success
(BVI) Limited which operate in Hong Kong, all subsidiaries shown
above operate in the same place in which they were incorporated,
respectively.

The non-voting deferred shares practically carry no rights to
dividends, nor rights to receive notice, nor rights to attend and vote
at any general meeting of the company, nor rights to participate in
any distribution on winding up.

The English names of the subsidiaries established in Mainland
China represent the best effort by the directors in translating their

TR F NEF A= —HZ
FEME LA (%)

(b)

(c)

(@

(e)

Chinese names as they do not have official English names.

Set out below is summarised financial information,
before inter-company transactions eliminations, for those

%L A 2 K R 5 2 A AR S P
R A RE ]

B & 2 [ R A7 IR 4 7] K Prime Success (BVI)
LimitedHi 75 2\ m] B 1 1F 425 » A7 2 b 1
VALTES i ATV ke 2 h i

5 i #5547 R 2% 7] X Prime Success (BVI)
Limitedi4 2 1 ##E L) - LI L SR 7Y B4
2 ] 53 B A S A

JEHE TR AL ) B0 L AEREAC 3 28 72
8 B B P 7 A B 15 50 4 A
GG L FEEE < IR A AR5 B A (]
59 -

VPN vl i) PNV &R VN
) A L BRI S - IR 2 i
2 Al R A A FCHY R o

T ST S A A I A T A A i ) R
Ji& 2 m) 2 S OB R A 4 I TR 24 W) 2 TR

subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests to the Group: Gy SR EH I M -
2024 2023
ZEYE e
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T oo N S W
At 31 December Wt H=+—H
Non-current assets FEREE E 22,677 23,643
Current assets T 189,254 193,538
Current liabilities A R (155,176) (158,766)
Net assets T E 56,755 58,415
For the year ended 31 December #HE+ _H=+—HILFEF
Revenue e PN 198 513
(Loss)/profit for the year ER RSB (4,293) 3,759
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2T (F518) Ik 2k A%E (4,293) 3,759
For the year ended 31 December #HETZH = —HIEFEE
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating BAEWEB B () WA
activities T (1,874) 784
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from investing BEmoE 4 R A
activities T (47) 10
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash Bl& KRB %EEY W),/
equivalents B (1,921) 794
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